Reward re-exposure driven memory re-evaluation in Drosophila melanogaster

Inauguraldissertation

zur Erlangung der Würde eines Doktors der Philosophie

vorgelegt der Philosophisch-Naturwissenschaftlichen Fakultät

der Universität Basel

von

Carolin Warnecke

Basel, 2024

Originaldokument gespeichert auf dem Dokumentenserver der Universität Basel edoc.unibas.ch

Genehmigt von der Philosophisch-Naturwissenschaftlichen Fakultät auf Antrag von

Erstbetreuer:Dr. Johannes FelsenbergZweitbetreuer:Prof. Dr. Rainer W. FriedrichExterne Expertin:Prof. Dr. Amy L. Milton

Basel, den 25. Juni 2024

Prof. Dr. Rainer W. Friedrich Gruppierung I Mitglied des Doktoratskomitees

> Prof. Dr. Marcel Mayor Dekan

"Sich verwirrt zu fühlen, ist der Anfang des Wissens." "Perplexity is the beginning of knowledge." (Khalil Gibran)

--

Erklärung

Ich versichere hiermit, dass ich die vorliegende Arbeit selbstständig verfasst und keine anderen als die im Literaturverzeichnis angegebenen Quellen benutzt habe.

Alle Stellen, die wörtlich oder sinngemäß aus veröffentlichten oder noch nicht veröffentlichten Quellen entnommen sind, sind als solche kenntlich gemacht.

Die Zeichnungen oder Abbildungen in dieser Arbeit sind von mir selbst erstellt worden oder mit einem entsprechenden Quellennachweis versehen.

Diese Arbeit ist in gleicher oder ähnlicher Form noch bei keiner anderen Prüfungsbehörde eingereicht worden.

Basel, den 28.05.2024

Acknowledgements

The past five years have been full of new experiences, challenges and development as a scientist and as an individual. However, what impacted the journey of doing the PhD may be the most are the people I was surrounded by and that I got to know. I am truly grateful for all the interactions, support, encouragement, and the friendship I encountered along the way.

First and foremost, I want to thank my mentor Johannes Felsenberg for the opportunity to work on this project. I am especially grateful for the trust you placed in me to join the lab as one of the first and to witness and be part of its evolution. Thank you for all your support, enthusiasm, numerous stimulating scientific discussions, and for always believing in me!

I also want to thank my thesis committee Rainer Friedrich and Amy Milton. Your input and support have been very valuable, always encouraging and appreciated a lot!

A big shout out to the whole Felsenberg lab! It was a pleasure to work with each of you. Every single one of you has become such a valuable colleague and friend, who I wouldn't want to miss. Thanks for being such an inspirational, diverse and supportive group!

Core facilities at FMI are legendary. Special thanks to Peter, Paul and Markus from the workshop, who always manage to come up with solutions that exceed what we had in mind. Thanks to the media kitchen for cooking large amounts of fly food and to FAIM for their support at the microscopes.

I also want to acknowledge the administration, IT, FM, and Piera Cichetti, the guidance counselor at FMI. Knowing that there was always friendly and patient support when needed made many tasks and issues much easier to handle.

FMI is a place where one can meet many outstanding people. Thanks to all for the enriching encounters, conversations, and fun times! A special thanks to those who shared the role of student representative with me – I will always remember it as a great experience and time together!

I had the immense privilege that my PhD project was funded by the Boehringer Ingelheim Fonds. But beyond supporting my project I felt that I was supported as a person. Thanks so much to the whole BIF team! I am grateful and happy to be part of the BIF family.

It might seem a bit unusual, but I also want to thank the team and trainers of the Novartis Fitorama. Especially during the pandemic, but also afterwards, it became a place where I could ground myself, clear my head, release stress, gain new courage and simply have fun.

I cannot imagine how I would have gotten through the last five years without my friends. I want to thank all of you for just being who you are – I am incredibly grateful that our path crossed at different stages of my life. I especially want to say thank you to Theresa Angenlahr, Cora Strobel, Viktoria Anselm, Marie-Theres Och, Lilo Mailänder and Marlena Wisser - you are wonderful - never forget that!

Finally, I want to thank my family! Danke Mama, Papa und Peter! I don't have words to express how invaluable it is to have you.

Abbreviations

BLA	Basolateral amygdala
CS	Conditioned stimulus
CS-	Conditioned stimulus -
CS+	Condtioned stimulus+
DAN	Dopaminergic neuron
EB	Ethyl butyrate
ER	Endoplasmatic reticulum
GABA	gamma-aminobutyric acid
h	Hours
IgG	Immunglobuline G
lgY	Immunglobuline Y
IPA	Isopentyl acetate
LH	Lateral horn
LHON	Lateral horn output neuron
L-NNA	N _w -Nitro-L-Arginin
LTM	Long-term memory
КС	Kenyon cell
MB	Mushroom body
MBON	Mushroom body output neuron
MCH	4-methylcyclohexanol
min	Minutes
ul	Microliter
ml	Milliliter
mm	Millimeter
NO	Nitric oxide
NOS	Nitric oxide synthase
OCT	3-octanol
PAM	Protocerebral anterior medial
PBS	Phosphate-buffered saline
PBS-T	PBS-Tween20
PFC	Prefrontal cortex
PN	Projection neuron
PPL	Protocerebral posterior lateral
PTSD	Posttraumatic stress disorder
RT	Room temperature
shi ^{ts}	Shibire termosensitive
STM	Short-term memory
Tdc	Tryptophane decarboxylase
ТН	Tyrosine hydroxylase
Trh	Tryptophan hydroxylase
TRPA	Transient receptor potential channel subfamily A
US	Unconditioned Stimulus
wt	Wild type

Abstract

In a changing world, re-evaluating learned information allows animals and humans to correct inadequate memories. However, the neuronal principles that govern these memory update processes are little understood. Here we show that manipulating dopamine neurons can bidirectionally change reward-reinforced olfactory memories in *Drosophila melanogaster*. Our data suggest a relationship between pathways involved in memory acquisition and those necessary for changing memory accessibility. Unpaired reward re-exposure that activates dopamine neurons also leads to memory devaluation. However, our data demonstrate that these two phenomena are controlled differently and recruit separate neuronal pathways. In contrast to dopamine driven memory update, sugar-reward-mediated memory devaluation is not only dopamine-independent but also controlled by context. Together our data show that memories are not static and can be updated by multiple pathways. Our findings can provide valuable insights for future investigations in the context of update related strategies to target maladaptive forms of reward memories.

Table of Contents

Er	klärur	ng	.2
A	cknow	ledgements	.3
AI	obrevi	ations	.5
			<u> </u>
AI	ostrac	τ	.6
Та	able of	f Contents	.7
Та	able of	Figures	.9
1	Intro	oduction	.1
	1 1	After learning memories can be maintained modulated for forgotten	1
	1.1	Aller learning memories can be maintained, modulated for forgotten.	. I 1
	1.1.	Associative memories can become maladaptive.	ा 1
	1.1.4		ו י
	1.1.5	3 1 Maintenance or forgetting	2
	1.1.3	3.2 Extinction	2
	113	3.3 Reconsolidation	3
	1.1.4	4 Dopamine involvement in learning, forgetting and updating in mammals	. 5
	10		~
	1.2	Drosophila as a model organism to study learning and memory	.0
	1.2.1	1 Drosophila general	. 6
	1.2.4	2 Olfactory learning/ MB network	. /
	1.2.3	Dopamine neurons in learning, updating and forgetting of memory in <i>Drosophila</i>	. ð 1 4
	1.2.4		
	1.3	Aim of this thesis	3
2	Mat	erial	4
	2.1	Antibodies	4
	2.2	Chemicals	4
	2.3	Equipment and Consumables	4
	0.4		15
	2.4	Fly lood and bullers	10
	2.4. 211	PBS (nH 7 3)	15
	2.4.2 2 5	Organisms/Strains (2)	15
	2.3	Organishis/ Shallis	1)
	2.6	Software	7

3	Μ	ethods	18
	3.1	Fly Keeping	18
	3.2	Behavioral Experiments	18
	3.3	Immunohistochemistry	19
	3.4	Data analysis	20
4	R	esults	21
	4.1	Reward re-exposure diminishes expression of olfactory reward memory.	21
	4.2	Reward re-exposure devalues reward memory independent of memory consolidation	22
	4.3	Activity from $\alpha 1$ PAM DANs after learning diminishes aversive memory	26
	4.4	Specificity of memory devaluation:	26
	4.5	Sugar memory re-evaluation and memory reduction by PAM DAN activity are two distinct mechanisms.	33
	4.6	Contextual control of sugar memory devaluation	37
5	Di	iscussion	41
	5.1	Reward-exposure-mediated memory update	41
	5.2	Separable mechanisms can abolish reward memory	42
	5.3 5.3	DAN-dependent balance between maintenance and forgetting of a memory	43 45
	5.4	DAN vesicle release independent memory devaluation	46
	5.5	Context gates reward memory devaluation	47
	5.6	Potential and limits of using the US as a reminder cue to activate memories in the clinics	49
	5.7	Outlook	50
6	Li	terature	52
7	Si	upplement	62

Table of Figures

Figure 1: Concept of Extinction and Reconsolidation	4
Figure 2: Schematic of the mushroom body.	9
Figure 3: Appetitive olfactory learning scheme	.22
Figure 4: Reward re-exposure diminishes expression of olfactory reward memory	.25
Figure 5: Specificity of memory devaluation.	.30
Figure 6: Reactivation of the same or more neurons than activated during training lea	ads
to memory devaluation	.32
Figure 7: In contrast to memory reduction by PAM DAN activity, sugar memory	re-
evaluation is not mediated by the same neural mechanism	.36
Figure 8: Sugar-mediated memory devaluation is context dependent	.40
Figure 9: Two separate mechanisms reduce reward memory expression.	.43

Supplemental figure 1	63
Supplemental figure 2	64
Supplemental figure 3	65
Supplemental figure 4	66
Supplemental figure 5	67
Supplemental figure 6	68

Supplemental table 1:	
-----------------------	--

1 Introduction

1.1 After learning, memories can be maintained, modulated or forgotten.

Every day, animals and humans have to make decisions. What to eat, where to go, whom to interact with, and a lot more. These decisions are mostly guided by previous experience that is stored as memories. However, the world is constantly evolving. Therefore, memories have to be adaptable to allow adequate learned behavior. Understanding the mechanisms that underlie this malleability of memory holds great potential to weaken or alter maladaptive memories.

1.1.1 Associative memories can become maladaptive.

In classical conditioning, a neutral cue, the conditioned stimulus (CS), like a tone, a smell or a location, is paired with an unconditioned stimulus (US), an intrinsically punishing or rewarding stimulus. Consequently, the CS becomes a predictor for the US and elicits a learned response, such as avoidance or approach of the learned cue. The classic example for this form of associative learning stems from Ivan Pavlov's experiments with dogs (1). In his studies Pavlov conditioned dogs to associate the sound of a bell with a food reward. Food is naturally rewarding (US) and elicits a salivation response in dogs. After several repetitions of pairing the tone with the food reward, the dogs learned to associate the sound with feeding. Consequently, they started salivating when they heard the tone in anticipation of the food, even when no food was presented (1).

Acquiring associative memories is crucial for survival and to navigate the world. However, inadequate strong associations can lead to harmful or uncontrollable behavior. They can become maladaptive. In patients suffering from posttraumatic stress disorder (PTSD) cues can lead to the retrieval of the traumatic experience and induce distress and extreme fear (2). Also, in the case of abusive use of drugs, associative memories have been shown to play a crucial role (3, 4). Upon consumption, environmental cues are associated with the rewarding experience (5). In turn, exposure to these learned cues can induce cravings in former drug users (6, 7). Consequently, these cues can enhance or trigger drug seeking even after longer times of abstinence (8). In such cases it is desirable to weaken the predictive power of the associated cue. In the following I will explain ways through which behavioral response after learning of an association can be altered.

1.1.2 Consolidation

Memories are stored as changes in brain function. The physical representation, including the molecular changes, of a memory is referred to as the memory trace. Early after learning memories are labile and therefore vulnerable to disturbance. To persist, memories need to be stabilized, a process called memory consolidation (9, 10). During consolidation, a labile

memory trace is actively stabilized, often in a protein-synthesis-dependent manner (11). In many cases, sleep has been shown to be crucial for consolidation (12). Interference with consolidation, such as through new learning, sleep deprivation, or pharmacological intervention, can lead to amnesia which might or might not be due to the decay of the memory trace (13-15). Therefore, targeted disruption of consolidation in a therapeutical setting can prevent harmful memories from becoming long lived (14, 16). However, rapid action after for example a traumatic experience is needed for this approach. Yet often immediate treatment is not possible. Drug related behaviors are even more complex and such interventions are less feasible (17). Therefore, additional approaches are necessary to target maladaptive memories.

1.1.3 Memory update

Surroundings undergo perpetual transformation as we transition between diverse environments and circumstances inherently shift over time. Adapting to these changes requires constantly adjusting learned behavior. To be flexible, memories that guide behavior are changeable by new experience. Understanding and controlling underlying processes can help to treat pathologies related to problematic memories.

1.1.3.1 Maintenance or forgetting

Perhaps the simplest form of memory update is forgetting. Generally forgetting is defined as the inability to retrieve a memory. However, this is independent of whether the lack of retrieval is due to the erasure of the memory trace or perturbed access to an existing trace (18). One form of forgetting, intrinsic forgetting, counteracts consolidation and leads to a decay of the memory (19). In contrast, transient forgetting refers to a temporary retrieval deficit, where the memory becomes inaccessible but returns after some time or under the right circumstances (20, 21). Whether a memory trace is maintained or degraded is crucial to prioritize important learned information during decision making. Forgetting allows to reduce unreliable information and to focus on relevant information (22, 23). However, it is a hallmark of problematic memories that they are not spontaneously forgotten (24). Thus, to develop treatments to promote forgetting in a therapeutic setting will be vital to selectively trigger forgetting of harmful memories.

1.1.3.2 Extinction

Extinction is a form of forgetting. Initially learned behavioral responses are suppressed by new learning (25, 26) (Figure 1). Based on previous experience, the brain constantly predicts the future (27). When a novel experience diverges from the expectation this leads to a prediction error, which can trigger an update of the learned information (28). Extinction occurs when, after learning of a "cue–outcome" association, the animal is repeatedly exposed to the cue without reinforcement (1, 29, 30). Consequently, the new information is learned as a parallel "cue–no

outcome" association which opposes the original memory (31) (Figure 1). The integration of the two opposing memories leads to the reduction of the behavioral response. Treatment strategies based on extinction learning, also known as exposure therapy, are prevalent in clinical practice (32-34). However, a notable limitation of this approach is that the initial memory persists and can still influence behavior. For example, which memory guides behavior during retrieval can be context dependent. Thus, in contextual settings very similar to the original learning situation the initial memory is more likely to guide behavior, while in a context that is more similar to the extinction situation learned responses remain reduced – a phenomenon called renewal (26, 30). Further it has been shown that the initial memory can recover over time after extinction, a phenomenon termed spontaneous recovery (1) (Figure 1). Lastly, reexposure to the unpaired US after extinction can induce the reinstatement of the initial memory (26, 29). In case of drug-related memories cues often acquire reinforcing power themselves, rendering extinction less efficient (35, 36). Thus, though applicable, success of extinction-based therapy is limited (37-39).

1.1.3.3 Reconsolidation

In contrast to extinction learning, in memory reconsolidation there is the potential that the memories about the CS-US association are updated themselves (40) (Figure 1). Initially, it was assumed that once memories are stabilized, they are unchangeable. However, recent work has shown that stabilized memories can be adjusted. Though initial indications for this process were suggested in the late 1960s by Lewis et al., the idea that memory can be updated following a reminder session was invigorated by Nader et al. in 2000 (40-42). The work proposed that the retrieval of a memory can induce a second round of consolidation. reconsolidation (40). The idea behind this concept is that the presentation of a reminder cue can switch the consolidated memory into an active state. In this active form, the memory is retrievable but is vulnerable to interference and change. Over time, the memory gets restabilized (Figure 1). Therefore, reconsolidation is discussed as a mechanism to update memories in accordance with changes in the environment (40, 43). Interfering with restabilization leads to the loss of the destabilized memory and therefore holds great potential for application in patients (44-46). This interference can be achieved pharmacologically or with behavioral interventions such as new learning (44, 47-49). However, even after more than 20 years of research many questions in the field of reconsolidation remain open. Especially, the mechanisms behind the destabilization step are not well understood and represent a bottleneck in translation to clinics. Whether retrieval initiates reconsolidation, leaves the memory unchanged or triggers extinction is largely dependent on so called boundary conditions. Boundary conditions include the nature of the memory and circumstances of retrieval i.e., memory type, strength, and age, internal and external context of learning and retrieval as well as the cue used as a reminder (50-52). Extinction and reconsolidation are

presumed to be mutually exclusive, but both are initiated through a prediction error in the retrieval situation (28, 53, 54). When the CS serves as a reminder, longer retrieval sessions, resulting in a larger prediction error, typically induce extinction learning. Conversely, a brief reminder (yielding a smaller prediction error) often triggers destabilization (28, 54). However, what "small" and "large" means is hard to define and differs for individual memories.

Indeed, most studies initiate reconsolidation through exposure to the CS. However, rewarding experiences (US) are typically associated with multiple cues and compared to the laboratory setting there is less of a primary cue present (55). Therefore, identifying the appropriate cue to successfully initiate reconsolidation is not trivial. Even after treatment with one cue, other cues still retain the potential to drive unwanted behavioral patterns (44). On the other hand, the unconditioned stimulus itself, i.e., the effects of the drug, is linked to all cues associated with the reward. Indeed, it has been demonstrated that retrieval through the US as a reminder can initiate reconsolidation (56-58). Interfering with memory restabilization after US-mediated destabilization results in reduced recall of several memories connected to that reward (58). In some cases retrieval sessions including the presence of the US even seem to be necessary to shift stronger memories to a destabilized state (59). Certainly, US-based memory activation potential. This raises ethical concerns and complicates clinical studies involving humans. One potential approach could involve the use of chemically similar substances such as methylphenidate or methadone. (58, 60).

Extinction:



Reconsolidation:



Figure 1: Concept of Extinction and Reconsolidation: Extinction and reconsolidation are memory update mechanisms that can be triggered by a reminder. In extinction behavioral consequences of a memory are suppressed by the formation of a second memory of opposing valence. However, over time the second memory becomes weaker and the initial memory guides behavior again (recovery). Reconsolidation is a sequence of destabilization and restabilization of the memory. In the destabilized state the memory can be changed, and after restabilization persists in the updated form. The memory can be retrieved at any timepoint during this process. White boxes indicate the memory that is guiding behavior in each step.

1.1.4 Dopamine involvement in learning, forgetting and updating in mammals.

The nervous system constantly receives sensory input from the external environment and integrates this information into activity within neuronal pathways. This activity can induce neuronal plasticity which means changes in connectivity and synaptic strength. Physiologically, this plasticity is substrate for memory trace formation and information storage in memories. Therefore, changing learned information entails adjustments - such as strengthening, reversal or addition - of neuronal connections in the same or other locations, ultimately influencing behavioral outcomes.

The neurotransmitter dopamine plays a crucial role in many memory-related processes. It is involved in signaling reward and punishment, motivation, salience and prediction errors during **learning** (61-70). These processes involve several brain areas such as the amygdala, hippocampus, prefrontal cortex, the striatum, and the ventral tegmental area (VTA). Dopamine release from the VTA neurons is crucial in signaling prediction errors necessary for new learning. Different neuronal populations project from the VTA to different areas in the nucleus accumbens (NAc) shell, signaling either reward or punishment (71, 72). Another study also reports projections to the tail of the striatum to be involved in aversive learning (73).

Dopamine also has been shown to play a dual role in the processes of memory **consolidation**, **maintenance**, **and forgetting** (24). After learning, dopamine seems to have a supporting effect on memory consolidation (74-76). However, there are also studies showing the counteracting role of dopamine promoting forgetting. Dopamine signaling to the hippocampus after learning impairs an otherwise long-lasting cocaine conditioned memory (77). On the contrary, blocking dopamine receptors in the hippocampus or the VTA after a weak learning trial enhanced memory performance (77, 78). Further, dopaminergic projections from the VTA to the prefrontal cortex (PFC) are suggested to be involved in retrieval-induced forgetting, in which predominant retrieval of a certain memory leads to forgetting of competing memories (79-81).

As in new learning, dopamine is involved in memory **extinction**. It has been shown that dopamine input from the VTA specifically to the anteromedial part of the NAc signals unexpected omission of the US during early fear extinction trials (82). This signal is triggered by input from the dorsal raphe (DR). Blocking dopamine signaling to the basolateral amygdala (BLA) impairs fear extinction, and specific "extinction neurons" in the BLA increase their response to the CS during fear extinction (83, 84). Further, dopamine-dependent lasting plasticity changes are established in the medial prefrontal cortex (mPFC) during extinction. Dopamine signaling in the infralimbic prefrontal cortex (IL) is crucial during extinction learning

and for retention of extinction memory (84-86). However, the areas of origin of these inputs still need to be discovered.

As in extinction, a prediction error is necessary for initiation of **reconsolidation**. Therefore, it is maybe not surprising that dopamine is involved in the destabilization step of aversive and appetitive memory reconsolidation (87, 88). Perturbing dopamine signaling from the VTA has been shown to prevent appetitive memory destabilization in rats, consistent with VTA output conveying prediction error signals (53, 89, 90). Similarly, dopamine input to the BLA is crucial for appetitive memory destabilization (91). Furthermore, dopamine signaling in the hippocampus has been implicated in gating destabilization with respect to internal state of the animal (92).

Overall, dopamine plays a diverse role in memory processing. However, due to the intricate nature of the mammalian nervous system, elucidating the precise functions of dopamine, its receptors, and associated pathways poses a significant challenge. Yet, a deeper understanding of the underlying neuronal mechanisms, particularly those involving dopamine signaling, is crucial for effectively modulating memory reconsolidation and other update mechanisms in a controlled manner. Moreover, the availability of measurable parameters indicating whether a memory has been destabilized or not would significantly improve our ability to intervene in the restabilization process with precision. Given that the principles of extinction and reconsolidation seem to be similar across species, the use of model organisms such as the fruit fly *Drosophila melanogaster* becomes advantageous. Its numerically simpler, genetically accessible brain system provides an excellent opportunity to uncover mechanistic insights that can subsequently guide investigations in more complex brain systems.

1.2 Drosophila as a model organism to study learning and memory

1.2.1 Drosophila general

The fruit fly *Drosophila melanogaster* is widely used as a model organism in biomedical research. While sharing around 61% to 73% of disease related genes with humans (93, 94), they are easy to maintain, quick in reproductivity and genetically accessible. In 2000, the whole fly genome was sequenced allowing for more targeted investigations of genes of interest (95). Moreover, binary expression systems, such as the UAS/GAL4 system, have enabled precise targeting of gene expression at the cellular level (96). This includes the expression of thermo-or optogenetic tools to manipulate neuronal activity. Light-sensitive ion channels, like channelrhodopsin CsChrimson or the thermosensitive drosophila transient receptor potential channel subfamily A member 1 (dTRPA1), enable targeted cell activation (97, 98). Conversely, a conformational change of the dynamin mutant *shibire^{ts}* (*shi^{ts}*) leads to inhibition of small vesicle release at high temperatures (99). The fly brain consists of around 200 000 neurons

with a more or less stereotypical wiring pattern and therefore is considerably less complex and more accessible for study than the mammalian counterpart (100). Despite this relative simplicity, flies exhibit complex behaviors conserved over species rendering them a suitable model to understand underlying circuit motives of such. Research of the last decades has led to many achievements in understanding perception, sleep, navigation, motor activity, social behaviors, and learning and memory on the fly. In 2020, the electron microscopy based connectome of a female fly brain was made available being a powerful tool to track individual neurons and their connectivity, expanding the potential of *Drosophila* as a model organism for system neuroscience (101, 102).

1.2.2 Olfactory learning/ MB network

Olfactory learning has been a major paradigm to study learning and memory in fruit flies. Flies can learn to associate odors with either reward or punishment (103, 104) (Figure 3). The antennal olfactory receptor neurons sense odors and sensory neurons that express the same receptor type project to one out of 43 glomeruli in the antennal lobes where they connect to projection neurons (105). There are two kinds of projection neurons signaling to central brain areas of the fly: uniglomerular excitatory projection neurons and multiglomerular inhibitory projection neurons. Both types are connected to the lateral horn, one of two higher brain areas involved in olfactory processing (106-108). Additionally, uniglomerular projection neurons connect to the calyx of the mushroom body (MB), the memory center of insects (107-109) (Figure 2). The MB comprises ~2000 cholinergic neurons per hemisphere, known as Kenyon cells (KC), which receive their inputs within the so-called calyx and project into the MB lobes (110). These Kenyon cells encode odor identities as sparse activity patterns (111). Apart from olfactory inputs, KCs also receive visual, tactile hygro- and thermosensory information (102, 112, 113). Anatomically and functionally KCs can be divided into three major types: y-, α'/β' -, and α/β - KCs with their axons forming the respective lobes (114, 115) (Figure 2). Concerning memory storage, they seem to serve different functions. While short-term memory (STM) is thought to be stored in y KCs, long-term memory (LTM) rather involves α/β KCs (116, 117). The α'/β' lobe is important during memory acquisition and consolidation (117-119). Downstream of KCs, postsynaptic mushroom body output neurons (MBONs) mediate behavioral approach or avoidance in response to a cue (120-122). Thereby, dendritic zones of MBONs innervate discrete compartments in the MB lobes that fulfill different functions (122, 123). These compartments are named with the letter of the respective lobe followed by the position in the lobe with the highest number labeling the last compartment at the tip of a lobe (Figure 2). In general, MBONs getting input in the vertical lobe are mainly approach coding MBONs, whereas those receiving input in the horizontal lobes mostly mediate avoidance. During learning KC to MBON signaling is modulated by the aminergic system (124-127) (Figure 2). While plasticity has classically been thought to occur presynaptically, i.e., in the KC,

there is also evidence for post synaptic plasticity in the MBONs (128-130). Therefore, memories are stored in the MB at the conjunction of KC to MBONs.

1.2.3 Dopamine neurons in learning, updating and forgetting of memory in *Drosophila*.

As in mammals, dopamine in *Drosophila melanogaster* is well known for its role in learning and memory consolidation as well as memory maintenance, forgetting and memory update (31, 69, 126, 131, 132).

In flies, memories are established in the lobes of the MB at the synapses between KCs and postsynaptic MBONs (129). During learning, reward or punishment is conveyed by dopaminergic neurons (DANs) from the protocerebral anterior medial (PAM) or protocerebral posterior lateral (PPL1) cluster that innervate the MB lobes (124, 133-135). The system is built in a way that appetitive coding DANs innervate compartments where avoidance coding MBONs receive their input and punishment coding DANs innervate those where approach coding MBONs receive input. The coincident activity of KCs and DANs activates the cAMP-PKA signaling pathway through adenylyl cyclase rutabaga (136, 137). Subsequently, this leads to depression of KC-MBON synapses resulting in reduced avoidance or approach, respectively (Figure 2). For example, activity in reward coding PAM-y5 and PAM- β '2 during learning leads to depression in avoidance-promoting MBON- β' 2mp and MBON- $\gamma5\beta'$ 2a favoring approach behaviors, while aversive learning leads to depression in approach-promoting MBON-y1pedc mediated by aversive reinforcing PPL1- y1pedc (120, 121). On the level of DANs there is further heterogeneity within each cluster: Different subsets of DANs have the potential to reinforce either only a short-term or long-term memory. When either of these MBONs is blocked during sugar learning, flies lack either the expression of the long-term or the shortterm memory respectively (138, 139). Furthermore, different types of rewards are processed in different compartments: while PAM- β '1 DANs have been shown to be crucial for long-term water memory, y_5 and $\alpha 1$ PAM DANs are crucial for long term memory of a sugar reward (118, 138, 140). The reward of absence of shock in reversal learning has been shown to be reinforced by PAM- β '2a DANs (141). Recently it has been shown that if multiple DANs project to one compartment, they can be even further divided into subcategories. For instance, y5 PAMs can be categorized into five groups based on their inputs, with some neurons providing the teaching signal during sugar learning and different PAM- γ5 DANs are involved in memory re-evaluation (142).



Figure 2: Schematic of the mushroom body. Simplified, the mushroom body consists of the calyx (dendritic field of KCs) and three lobes that are formed by the axons of different classes of KCs. The lobes are divided into different compartments. In each of these compartments distinct output neurons receive input from KCs. DANs innervate the same compartment signaling naïve valence. During learning, output from these DANs modulates the KC to MBON synapse (Learning). Subsequent odor exposure after learning evokes a reduced response in the output neuron (Retrieval).

Additionally to this feed forward signaling, the three-parted KC-DAN-MBON system features further complexity: Individual Kenyon cells give inhibitory axo-axonal input onto neighboring Kenyon cells, contributing to sparsity of odor patterns and therefore preventing unspecific learning (143). Further, connections between DANs and KCs are reciprocal. Alongside the input DANs give to KCs, cholinergic axo-axonal synapses from KCs to DANs influence ongoing activity within DANs and also seem to amplify the reinforcement signal of DANs at connection sites with active KCs (144). Moreover, MBON axons project back to DAN dendrites, forming feedback loops onto the MB system (31, 102, 118, 123, 131, 145, 146). These feedback connections can on the one hand provide a mechanism by which previous experience influences dopamine responses to repeated exposure to a cue (31, 131). On the other hand, they can extend the duration of a signal, as proposed for the PAM- α 1 MBON- α 1 loop during consolidation (118). Besides their prominent role in conveying the reinforcement signal, DANs also provide information about the fly's internal and behavioral state to the memory system and integrate this information into the learning and retrieval process. Many DANs show ongoing activity which can be modulated by nutritional status of the animal as well as by sleep, movement, arousal and mating (19, 147-150). This activity of DANs influences consolidation, memory maintenance/ retrievability and forgetting (19, 150-153). For example, activity in PPL1-y1pedc neurons is high in fed and low in starved flies. Low activity allows retrieval of appetitive STMs in a state-dependent manner (151). Further, oscillations in PPL1-y1pedc and PPL1-y2 α '1 after learning are only present in fed flies and required for aversive and appetitive LTM consolidation (150, 153). Interestingly, arousal dependent activity in the same neurons leads to active forgetting of aversive memories after learning ((132, 154, 155) reviewed in (156)). Accordingly, artificial activation of PPL1 DANs after learning diminishes memory

performance (132). Same applies when an unpaired shock is delivered after aversive learning. On the contrary, inhibiting PPL1 DANs after one trial of aversive training delays the decay of memory (132). Consolidated memories can be transiently forgotten after exposure to an aversive stimulus. However, the memory trace is maintained and forgetting is mediated by PPL1 DANs different to those involved in learning and active forgetting (20). Corresponding to aversive memories, activating PAM DANs after appetitive learning, leads to loss of memory performance in the testing situation (155). This raises the question: How can the same neurons exert two opposing processes? The answer to this question seems to be two-fold. Firstly, dopamine can activate different dopamine receptors at the postsynapse. In Drosophila there are four dopamine receptor types known: the D1 like (referring to the mammalian counterpart) receptors Dop1R1 and Dop1R2 (DAMB), the D2 like receptor Dop2R and the receptor DopEcR that additionally binds ecdysone and 20E (157). New learning involves Dop1R1 dopamine receptors at the KC postsynapse. Dop1R1 is coupled to Gs protein and activates adynyl cyclase rutabaga resulting in increased cAMP levels (125). On the contrary active forgetting, transient forgetting and backward conditioning (when the CS is presented after the US and therefore predicts the end to a meaningful event) have been shown to depend on Dop1R2 (DAMB) receptor signaling via Gq, IP3 and on the small G protein Rac1 (20, 132, 158, 159). Interestingly Rac1 has also been shown to regulate forgetting processes in mammals (160-163). Both receptors have a different sensitivity to dopamine (158). Therefore, it has been proposed that high dopamine levels during learning predominantly activate Dop1R1, whereas low ongoing activity afterwards engages more on Dop1R2 signaling leading to forgetting (127). However, it has been shown that during learning dopamine signals are highest during simultaneous activity in DANs and KCs, with no difference in the release pattern whether KC activity precedes or follows DAN activation (126). Still, Dop1R2 dependent Ca²⁺ release from the endoplasmatic reticulum (ER) depends on relative timing of CS and US. Handler et al. suggest that calcium-sensitive IP₃ receptors at the ER sense the relative timing between DAN and KC activity (126). In the absence of IP₃ elevated calcium levels suppress receptor activation. Only after IP₃ has bound an activating Ca^{2+} binding site becomes accessible (164). Therefore, higher calcium levels resulting from KC activity must not precede but follow DAMB activation to activate IP₃ receptors and subsequent Ca^{2+} release from the ER.

A second explanation might be the release of co-transmitters from DANs. Gamma aminobutyric acid (GABA) and glutamate are transmitter reported to be released from DANs and involved in forgetting of appetitive or aversive memory, respectively (155). Alongside these classical neurotransmitters, DANs can also signal via other transmitter systems like neuropeptides, gaseous molecules or electric synapses (165, 166). Nitric oxide (NO) is a gaseous transmitter that is produced from arginine by the nitric oxidase (NOS) and can passively diffuse through the membrane to reach the postsynaptic receptors. During learning

NO release from certain DANs leads to the formation of a memory of opposing valence that emerges with slower dynamics than the memory implemented by dopamine therefore promoting forgetting (166).

However, dopamine not only plays a role in the two extremes of memory maintenance and forgetting. Both extinction and reconsolidation in the fruit fly are dependent on dopamine signaling (31, 131, 167). Since **extinction** entails the formation of a new memory trace of opposing valence, it is intuitive that this involves DANs of the corresponding opposite cluster compared to the learning situation. Meaning that the extinction of a reward memory requires neurons from the PPL1 cluster whereas extinction after aversive learning recruits DANs from the PAM cluster (31, 131). Interestingly, the PAM-DANs that mediate extinction of aversive memory and sugar reward learning are anatomically similar and innervate the same compartment. However, recent work has shown that these neurons are functional heterogeneous with distinct neurons encoding sugar reward or the reinforcement in the case of the omission of expected punishment during extinction (142).

Two studies investigate reconsolidation in *Drosophila*. Both use the conditioned stimulus as a reminder cue (131, 168). In **reconsolidation** PPL1 DANs have been shown to be involved in the restabilization step of reconsolidation of a reward memory (131). However, whether exposure to the US can induce reconsolidation and whether DANs are involved in destabilization of the memory remains to be explored.

Thus, despite significant progress in understanding the roles of DANs in memory revaluation and update, a lot remains to be elucidated. This includes investigating whether and which DANs are involved in memory destabilization and whether and how forgetting and memory destabilization differ from each other.

1.2.4 Other players giving input to the MB

Beyond the main circuits, there are additional inputs into the learning network.

There are around 80 **serotonergic neurons** in the *Drosophila* brain and the MB expresses serotonergic receptors (169-171). Further, serotonergic signaling seems to be crucial in aversive olfactory conditioning (172). For long-lasting memories the serotonergic neuron SPN has been shown to gate LTM formation by increasing PPL1- γ 1pedc oscillations after spaced aversive training (173). Another significant serotonergic input to the MB comes from the **DPM** (dorsal paired medial) neuron, which arborizes all over the MB. This neuron has been implicated in consolidation and sleep promotion during the latter (174-177).

Like the DPM neuron, the GABAergic **APL** (anterior paired lateral) neuron spans the entire MB. When activated by active KCs it ensures sparse odor representation by inhibition of non-

activated KCs (111, 178). Additionally, APL can release **octopamine**, the analog of vertebrate norepinephrine in insects. Octopamine influences a wide range of behaviors, including sleep, feeding, locomotion, reproduction and learning (133, 179-185). Aside from the APL, four classes of octopaminergic neurons are innervating the mushroom body: OA-VUMa2, OA-VPM3, OA-VPM4, and OA-VPM5. OA-VUMa2 and OA-VPM5 innervate only the calyx; OA-VPM3 innervates only the γ -lobe, while OA-VPM4 gives input to both the calyx and the y-lobe (186). Octopamine receptors in the KCs are important for aversive and appetitive conditioning (133, 187-189). Further PAM DANs receive octopaminergic input, which is crucial for formation of a short-lasting sweet taste memory (124).

Besides the mushroom body, olfactory information is computed in the **lateral horn**. Similar to the MB, the lateral horn gets additional input from other sensory modalities (190). Unlike the MB, the input to the lateral horn is stereotyped and it is primarily associated with innate olfactory processes (191). However, we have contributed to a study showing that neuronal pathways impinging on the lateral horn are modulated by associative learning (192). Further, several lateral horn output neurons (LHONs) not only provide direct input to KCs but also connect to PAM-and PPL1 DAN dendrites, suggesting that information from the lateral horn can modulate the MB-network based on its computations regarding the innate valence of a stimulus, depending on the context and state of the animal (190). On the other hand, the LH itself receives input from the MB. MBONs not only project to dendrites of LHONs, potentially forming feedback loops, but MBON and LHON signals also converge downstream through axo-axonal connections (190, 193). Therefore, the combined signaling from the MB and LH can integrate innate and learned information, leading to an appropriate behavioral response.

Additionally to neurons, **glia** cells have long been known to be a substantial part of the nervous system. However, their direct involvement in the learning process is a rather novel insight. Only recently it has been reported that vesicle release from ensheathing glia is important for aversive learning and even further that artificial activation of ensheathing glia can serve as a reinforcement signal during learning (194). Therefore, in the future glia should be considered as a substantial part of learning networks in the mushroom body.

All in all, olfactory learning paradigms in *Drosophila* offer great opportunities to investigate the various players involved in memory processes. Decades of research have already yielded valuable insights across many topics that future research can build on.

1.3 Aim of this thesis

Inadequate strong associative memories can underlie maladaptive memory disease like posttraumatic stress disorder or substance abuse. Therefore, targeting these memories to prevent harmful behavior is fundamental in treatment. While most strategies focus on CS-initiated memory update, this approach has the caveat that only weakening the specific CS-US connection may not fully prevent unwanted behavior, as other related cues can still drive it. Using the US as a reminder could overcome this problem, since the US is part of all memories associating a cue with the respective outcome. However, the principles by which exposure to the US can lead to the updating of a memory are poorly understood.

This thesis aimed to gain insight into US-mediated memory update processes using *Drosophila melanogaster* as a model organism. Therefore, we established a paradigm in which sugartrained flies are re-exposed to the unpaired reward after training. This re-exposure leads to devaluation of the learned CS-US association, independent of the consolidation state of a memory. Applying this paradigm, we aimed to investigate the following questions:

1) Is memory devaluation reward-specific, and does it affect multiple CS-US associations?

2) What are the circuits underlying sugar memory devaluation?

3) Are there mechanistic differences to active forgetting, in which ongoing activity of reinforcing DANs leads to fading of unconsolidated memories over time?

Our results show that exposure to the unpaired US can lead to devaluation of multiple associations. This devaluation happens in a context dependent manner. Further, there is a certain specificity regarding the reward that can trigger memory update. Despite our efforts, our results do not reveal the circuit motives underlying sugar memory devaluation. However, our data demonstrates that vesicle release from most of the main MB network candidates is not involved in US-mediated devaluation, which is as surprising as it is fascinating. Finally, though we observe dopamine-dependent forgetting in an artificial setting, sugar memory devaluation seems to be a separate mechanism which follows distinct rules.

Together, our results for the first time report the reward-initiated update of reward memory in *Drosophila*. While open questions remain, insights achieved during the course of this thesis can serve as a basis for further research on mechanisms underlying US mediated memory update.

2 Material

2.1 Antibodies

anti GFP (chicken)	Abcam (ab13970)	1:2000
Anti bruchpilot (mouse)	DSHB (nc82)	1:50
Goat anti-Chicken IgY (H+L) Alexa Fluor™ 488	Invitrogen (A-11039)	1:300
Goat anti-Mouse IgG (H+L) Alexa Fluor™ 633	Invitrogen (A-21052)	1:300

2.2 Chemicals

4-methylcyclohexanol (98%)	Sigma-Aldrich	Cat#218405
3-octanol (99%)	Sigma-Aldrich	Cat#153095
Active dry yeas	Sigma-Aldrich	Cat#789093
All trans-Retinal	Sigma-Aldrich	Cat#116-31-4
Arabinose	Carl Roth AG	Cat# 3051.2
Ethanol absolut	Sigma-Aldrich	Cat#1.00983.1000
Ethyl butyrate	Sigma-Aldrich	Cat#E15701
Goat serum	Thermo Fisher Scientific	Cat# 16210064
Isopentyl acetate	Sigma-Aldrich	Cat#112674
(also known as isoamyl alcohol)		
L-NNA (Nω-Nitro-L-Arginin)	Sigma-Aldrich	Cat#2149-70-4
Mineral oil	Sigma-Aldrich	Cat#M5904
Sucrose	Carl Roth AG/	Cat# 4661.1/
	Sigma-Aldrich	Cat#S7903
Triton X	Carl Roth AG	Cat# 3051.2
Vectashield mounting medium	Vectorlabs	Cat#VC-H-1000- L010
Agar	Fisher Scientific	Cat#10346693
Soy flour	VWR	Cat#0296002405
Active dry yeast	Milian	Cat#789093
Cornmeal	E. Zwicky AG	Cat#1054942
Molasses	Milian	Cat#789214
Nipagin	Sigma-Aldrich	Cat#H5501

2.3 Equipment and consumables

Ultimate flypad	Milian
Klimazellen	K.Schweizer
T-mazes and T-maze tubes	In house design
Red LEDs 634 nm, Osram Opto Semiconductors	Distrelec
Optogenetic situmlators	In house design
Dehydrator	WMF
Forceps	FST
Whatman paper	Sigma-Aldrich

Fly bottles Fly vials

Milian Milian

2.4 Fly food and buffers

2.4.1 Fly food

Water	10 000 ml (~82.7%)
Agar	75 g (~0.6%)
Soy flour	100 g (~0.8%)
Yeast	185 g (~1.5%)
Cornmeal	900 g (~7.4%)
Sugar beet syrup	400 g (~0.3%)
Molasses	400g (~0.3%)
nipagin	25 g (~0.02%)

2.4.2 PBS (pH 7.3)

8.00 g/l
0.20 g/l
1.44 g/l
0.20 g/l

2.5 Organisms/ strains

D. melanogaster: R58E02-GAL4	Bloomington <i>Drosophila</i> Stock Center	RRID: BDSC_41347
<i>D. melanogaster</i> : R58E02-lexA	Bloomington <i>Drosophila</i> Stock Center	RRID: BDSC_52740
D. melanogaster: 0273-GAL4	Waddel lab Oxford	
D. melanogaster: R15A04-GAL4	Bloomington <i>Drosophila</i> Stock Center	RRID: BDSC_48671
<i>D. melanogaster</i> : R15A04-lexA	Bloomington <i>Drosophila</i> Stock Center	RRID: BDSC_52483
D. melanogaster: R48B04-GAL4	Bloomington <i>Drosophila</i> Stock Center	RRID: BDSC_50347
D. melanogaster: 0279-GAL4	Waddel lab Oxford	
D. melanogaster: MB194B-GAL4	Bloomington <i>Drosophila</i> Stock Center	RRID: BDSC_68269
D. melanogaster: MB043C-GAL4	Bloomington <i>Drosophila</i> Stock Center	RRID: BDSC_68363
D. melanogaster: R56H09-GAL4	Bloomington <i>Drosophila</i> Stock Center	RRID: BDSC_39166
D. melanogaster: R87D06-GAL4	Bloomington <i>Drosophila</i> Stock Center	RRID: BDSC_40487
D. melanogaster: MB315C-GAL4	Bloomington <i>Drosophila</i> Stock Center	RRID: BDSC_68316
D. melanogaster: MB025B-GAL4	Bloomington <i>Drosophila</i> Stock Center	RRID: BDSC_68299
D. melanogaster: NP5272-GAL4	Kyoto Stock Center (DGRC)	113659
<i>D. melanogaster</i> : MB056B-GAL4	Bloomington <i>Drosophila</i> Stock Center	RRID: BDSC_68276

D. melanogaster: MB032B-GAL4	Bloomington <i>Drosophila</i> Stock Center	RRID: BDSC_68302
D. melanogaster: MB441B-GAL4	Bloomington <i>Drosophila</i> Stock Center	RRID: BDSC_68251
D. melanogaster: MB312B-GAL4	Bloomington <i>Drosophila</i> Stock Center	RRID: BDSC_68314
D. melanogaster: MB058B-GAL4	Bloomington <i>Drosophila</i> Stock Center	RRID: BDSC_68278
D. melanogaster: MB296B-GAL4	Bloomington <i>Drosophila</i> Stock Center	RRID: BDSC_68308
D. melanogaster: MB099C-GAL4	Bloomington <i>Drosophila</i> Stock Center	RRID: BDSC_68290
D. melanogaster: MB320C-GAL4	Bloomington <i>Drosophila</i> Stock Center	RRID: BDSC_68253
D. melanogaster: MB630B-GAL4	Bloomington <i>Drosophila</i> Stock Center	RRID: BDSC_68334
D. melanogaster: MB438B-GAL4	Bloomington <i>Drosophila</i> Stock Center	RRID: BDSC_68326
D. melanogaster: MB504B-GAL4	Bloomington <i>Drosophila</i> Stock Center	RRID: BDSC_68329
D. melanogaster: MB301B-GAL4	Bloomington <i>Drosophila</i> Stock Center	RRID: BDSC_68311
D. melanogaster: MB032B-GAL4	Bloomington <i>Drosophila</i> Stock Center	RRID: BDSC_68302
D. melanogaster: TH-GAL4	Bloomington <i>Drosophila</i> Stock Center	RRID: BDSC_51982
D. melanogaster: MB299B-GAL4	Bloomington <i>Drosophila</i> Stock Center	RRID: BDSC_68310
D. melanogaster: R13F02-GAL4	Bloomington <i>Drosophila</i> Stock Center	RRID: BDSC_48571
<i>D. melanogaster</i> : Tcd2-GAL4	Bloomington <i>Drosophila</i> Stock Center	RRID: BDSC_9313
<i>D. melanogaster</i> : Trhn-GAL4	Bloomington <i>Drosophila</i> Stock Center	RRID: BDSC_38388
<i>D. melanogaster</i> : 5015(DPM)- GAL4	Bloomington <i>Drosophila</i> Stock Center	RRID: BDSC_2721
<i>D. melanogaster</i> : LH989-GAL4/ SS04956-GAL4	Bloomington <i>Drosophila</i> Stock Center	RRID: BDSC_86697
<i>D. melanogaster</i> : Gr64f-GAL4	Bloomington <i>Drosophila</i> Stock Center	RRID: BDSC_57669
D. melanogaster: repo-GAL4	Bloomington <i>Drosophila</i> Stock Center	RRID: BDSC_7415
<i>D. melanogaster</i> : empty-GAL4	Bloomington <i>Drosophila</i> Stock Center	RRID: BDSC_68384
D. melanogaster: empty split-GAL4	Bloomington <i>Drosophila</i> Stock Center	RRID: BDSC_79603
<i>D. melanogaster</i> : UAS- <i>shi</i> ^{ts}	Waddel lab Oxford	
D. melanogaster: UAS-CsChrimsor	n Waddel lab Oxford	
D. melanogaster: UAS-dTRPA1	Bloomington <i>Drosophila</i> Stock Center	RRID: BDSC_26263
<i>D. melanogaster</i> : UAS-dTRPA1, lexAOP-CsChrimson; R58E02- GAL4		This study
<i>D. melanogaster</i> : UAS-dTRPA1, lexAOP-CsChrimson; R15A04- GAL4		This study

D. melanogaster: UAS-dTRPA1,
lexAOP-CsChrimson; 0273-GAL4
D. melanogaster: UAS-dTRPA1,
lexAOP-CsChrimson; R48B04-
GAL4
D. melanogaster: UAS-CsChrimson;
UAS- shits
D. melanogaster: UAS-GFP; 247-
Waddel lab Oxford
LexA, LexAOP-RFPThis study

2.6 Software

GraphPad Prism version 8.3.0 to 10.2.2	GraphPad Software, La Jolla, CA
Fiji	NIH; Schindelin et al., 2012
Adobe Illustrator CC	Adobe Systems, San Jose, CA

3 Methods

3.1 Fly keeping

Drosophila melanogaster strains were reared and kept on standard cornmeal-agar food either at 60% humidity and 22°C or 25°C in a 12:12 h light-dark cycle. As wildtype strain Canton S flies were used. All other lines are listed in the resource table. Flies expressing *CsChrimson* were kept and handled in the dark or under dim light conditions and flipped to food containing 125 mM all-trans retinal 3 days prior to the experiment. Males from GAL4 or lexA driver lines were crossed to virgins from the UAS or lexAOP lines.

3.2 Behavioral experiments

For behavioral experiments mixed-sex populations of 2-8-day-old flies were used. Approximately 80-100 flies were starved for 16-20 h in a 25 ml vial containing 3 ml of 1% agar as water source and a 15 × 30 mm filter paper. As odors 4-methylcyclohexanol (MCH), 3- octanol (OCT), ethyl butyrate (EB) and isopentyl acetate (IPA) diluted approximately 10⁻³ in mineral oil were used. Standard experiments were performed at 23°C. For thermogenetic activation of neurons by dTRPA1 or inhibition by *shibire*^{ts} temperature was raised to 32°C. In experiments using *shibire*^{ts} flies were exposed to the restrictive temperature 30 min before the respective experimental phase.

Odor avoidance assay:

For odor avoidance experiments flies were given the choice between 3-octanol and solventimmersed air in the dark for 2 min. Flies were placed into the restrictive temperature of 32°C for *shi*^{ts} inhibition 30 min before and throughout testing. Afterwards flies were collected from either side of the T-maze and counted accordingly. Avoidance index was calculated as the difference between number of flies approaching the 3-octanol and the solvent odor, divided by the total number of flies. One N consists of two sets of flies alternating the side of the T-maze where the odor was presented.

Sugar conditioning:

Appetitive training was performed as described before (104). Flies were exposed to the unpaired odor for two minutes without reward, followed by 30 s of clean air. Subsequently flies encountered the paired odor for 2 min together with dry sucrose.

Electroshock conditioning:

Aversive olfactory conditioning using electro shocks was performed as described previously (103, 120) Flies were exposed to the CS+ for 1 min while delivering electricshocks (by twelve 90 V electric shocks at 5-second intervals). Afterwards they received clean air for 45 s followed by 1 min of CS- without punishment.

Artificial training/ activation:

To activate *dTRPA1* expressing neurons flies were flipped into preheated (32°C) vials. As an exception, flies expressing *dTRPA1* together with *CsChrimson* were not flipped but placed in heat in their original vials. For optogenetic activation using CsChrimson, flies were exposed to red light (λ =634 nm, 500 Hz, 19.5 lm/W).

When the training in the T-maze was done artificially flies received the paired odor in the heat (pre-heated T-maze tubes) or during red light exposure, instead of being exposed to dry sugar or shock.

Sugar re-exposure:

Sugar re-exposure was performed for 5 min either in 25 ml vials containing 3 ml of 1% agar or in T-maze tubes. To present the sugar, vials/ tubes were lined with a filter paper covered in dry sucrose.

Test:

For the test flies were given the option between two odors in the T-maze. Testing was performed in the dark for 2 min. Afterwards flies were collected from either side of the T-maze and counted accordingly. Performance index was calculated as the difference between number of flies approaching the paired odor and the unpaired odor, divided by the total number of flies. One N consists of two sets of flies trained reciprocally in terms of odor identity for CS-and CS+.

Pharmacology:

NOS activity was inhibited by feeding flies L-NNA. L-NNA was either given in food containing 100 mM L-NNA or on filter papers soaked with saturated L-NNA solution in tab water.

3.3 Immunohistochemistry

Fly brains were fixed for 30 min in 4% formaldehyde after dissection. Blocking was done overnight at 4°C with 5 % goat serum in PBS containing 0.3% Triton X (PBS-T). Afterwards brains were incubated with the primary antibodies (chicken anti-GFP, Abcam (ab13970) (diluted 1:2000); mouse anti-bruchpilot, DSHB (nc82) (diluted 1:50) for at least 5 h at RT, sufficiently rinsed in PBS-T and afterwards incubated with the secondary antibodies (diluted 1:300) (Goat anti-Chicken IgY (H+L) Alexa Fluor™ 488; Goat anti-Mouse IgG (H+L) Alexa Fluor™ 633) over night at 4°C. For mounting, Vectashield mounting medium was used. Imaging was done with a Zeiss Axio Imager M2 equipped with a spinning disk confocal scanning unit (Yokogawa CSU W1 with Dual T2, Pinhole size: 50 µm) using a 20x air objective. Images were analyzed with Fiji (Schindelin et al. 2012).

3.4 Data analysis

Data was analyzed with GraphPad Prism version 8.3.0 to 10.2.2. Groups were analyzed for Gaussian distribution using Shapiro-Wilk normality test (Significance level alpha = 0.05). For normally distributed data one-sample t-test was applied to check for significant positive or negative performance indices (Significance level alpha = 0.05). Data sets containing two groups with normal distribution were analyzed for significant differences using an unpaired t-test (P<0.05 for significance). When data points were not normally distributed a Mann-Whitney U test was performed (P<0.05 for significance). One-way ANOVA was applied on data sets containing more than two groups. For correction of multiple comparisons, a Dunnett's test was performed.

4 Results

4.1 Reward re-exposure diminishes expression of olfactory reward memory.

How learned information guides future behavior depends on the reliability of the related association. Though it has been shown that the re-exposure to the conditioned stimulus alone can reduce learned responses, the consequences of re-exposure to the unconditioned stimulus are less well understood. Here we test how US re-exposure after learning impacts memory retrieval of appetitive memories in Drosophila melanogaster. Flies form long lasting sugar memories after a single trial of differential conditioning where an unpaired odor is presented alone (unpaired odor, conditioned stimulus-, CS-) followed by the pairing of a second odor (paired odor, conditioned stimulus+, CS+) paired with sugar reward (unconditioned stimulus, US). When tested immediately or a day later flies approach the paired odor in a forced choice test against the unpaired odor (Figure 3, Supplemental figure 1A). To explore the effects of reward re-exposure we re-exposed flies to dried sugar for 5 min in starvation vials 3 h after training. In a parallel control group, flies were handled equally but not exposed to dried sugar. Indeed, when tested at 3 h after the sugar re-exposure, appetitive memory was diminished compared to a handling control (Figure 4A). This decrease in expression of reward memory is persistent and does not recover after 24 h (Figure 4B). Interestingly, exposing flies to dried sugar 3 h or 6 h before training did not change 6 h memory performance compared to a handling control (Figure 4C, Supplemental figure 1B). Given that memory strength is assessed as relative choice between the paired and unpaired odor after the sugar re-exposure, a diminished score can be explained by changes in the value of the unpaired odor. To test for such generalization, we repeated the re-exposure experiment (reexposure at 3 h), but in the test we provided a choice between the paired odor versus a novel odor. Compared to the handling control, the learned approach to the paired odor is reduced, demonstrating that the deficit in memory retrieval is due to a change in preference to the paired odor (Figure 4D). Thus, these results show that experiencing the sugar reward without the trained odor after the training devalues the sugar-odor association memory and reduces the expression of the memory.



Figure 3: Appetitive olfactory learning scheme. During training (left side) groups of starved flies are exposed to one unpaired odor (A) followed by an odor paired with a sugar reward (B) in the upper part of the T-maze. During the test (right side) flies are exposed to a forced choice between both odors in the two arms of the lower part of the T-maze. After successful training the majority of flies will choose odor B in the test phase.

4.2 Reward re-exposure devalues reward memory independent of memory consolidation.

Memories can be distinguished into different phases. For example, a short-term memory phase that drives learned behavior in the first minutes to hours after learning and long-term memory that allows retrieval even after days. Previous experiments have shown that in flies long-lasting sugar memories need to be stabilized. This consolidation phase requires coordinated neuronal activity as well as molecular processes including protein synthesis in defined neurons within the first hours after learning (104). Before being consolidated memories are vulnerable and can be lost by disruptions, such as new learning, sleep deprivation, or pharmacological interventions (11, 15, 195, 196). Thus, we tested whether sugar re-exposure can interfere with memory when given outside of the consolidation window. Prior studies have shown that memories are fully consolidated 24 h after training.(104, 131). Therefore, we re-exposed flies to sugar 24 h after training, when memory was clearly stabilized and tested 3 h later (Figure 4B). Compared to the handling control, learned approach is significantly reduced. These experiments suggest that olfactory reward memories are diminished independent of the timepoint of the re-exposure.

The expression of reward memories at different timepoints after training depends on specific subpopulations of KCs (116, 117). Short- and mid-term memories dominate minutes to hours after learning, while long-term memories influence behavior days later. These memory types appear to be established in parallel by distinct dopamine pathways (138, 139). Previous work has shown that activating DANs artificially can diminish subsequent memory expression (20, 127, 132, 156). To confirm these findings, we expressed the *dTrpA1*-encoded transient receptor potential (dTRPA1) channel in most DANs from the PAM cluster (R58E02-GAL4). Raising the ambient temperature above 25°C activates the temperature dependent dTRPA1

and therefore depolarizes neurons that express this channel (98). In our experiments, activating dopamine neurons for 30 min at 3 h after sugar training diminished learned approach behavior in the test (Figure 4H). Importantly, *dTRPA1* expressing flies show the same sugar learning scores at 6 h as controls (Supplemental figure 1C). Further, exposing wild type flies to heat at 3 h after training leaves reward memory expression unaltered (Supplemental figure 1D).

Artificial training with thermo- or optogenetic activation of specific reward DANs substituting for the sugar presentation during training leads to appetitive memory formation. Depending on which subsets of dopamine neurons are activated the dynamics of memory formation are different (138). We confirm these findings by showing that activating short-term memory DANs (STM-DANs, R48B04-GAL4, labeling DANs projecting to β'2, γ1, γ2, γ4, γ5) during training leads to memories that decay within the first hours, whereas artificial training with long-term DANs (LTM-DANs, R15A04-GAL4, labeling DANs projecting to $\beta 2$, $\alpha 1$, $\beta' 1$, $\gamma 5$ and the pedunculus) exclusively form a long-term memory (Supplemental figure 1E &F). Given that these separable dopamine pathways are related to STM or LTM we tested whether their activation after sugar learning can affect specific memory phases. Flies expressing dTRPA1 in STM-DANs (R48B04-GAL4), LTM-DANs (R15A04-GAL4) or in both (R58E02-GAL4) were sugar trained and tested 27 h later. In independent experiments, flies were shifted to >25°C for 30 min either 15 min or 24 h after training. Interestingly, we find that compared to a handling control, activating LTM-DANs (R15A04-GAL4) or LTM-DANs together with STM-DANs (R58E02-GAL4) abolishes retrieval of 27 h memory (Figure 4E &F). In contrast, activating STM-DANs (R48B04-GAL4) at these timepoints leaves the memory unaltered (Figure 4G). However, when flies were trained and tested at 1 h after learning and STM-DANs are activated 15 min after the training, learned approach is diminished (Figure 4G). Interestingly, activating only LTM-DANs (R15A04-GAL4) shows a similar effect (Figure 4F). These results suggest that the long-term component of sugar memory is only sensitive to interference from LTM-DANs but not STM DANs, whereas for 1 h memory we do not observe such specificity. However, artificial training with STM and LTM DANs can induce a partial 6 h memory (Figure 2G, Supplemental figure 1E &F). In 6 h memory experiments, activation of STM- or LTM-DANs alone at 3 h leaves the reward memory unaltered (Figure 4I). However, activation of both STMand LTM-DANs together at 3 h diminishes 6 h memory retrieval (Figure 4H). To test whether more refined subsets of dopamine neurons can diminish 6h memory we screened candidate neurons for their capacity to interfere with 6 h memory However, neither 3 h activation of subsets of PAM DANs nor the activation of punishment coding DANs from the PPL1 cluster were potent to reduce 6 h memory (Supplemental figure 1H, for labeled DAN subsets see supplemental table 1). Increased memory retrieval after activation of neurons labeled by MB025B-GAL4, MB301B-GAL4 and MB056B-GAL4 are likely caused by the genetic

background of the flies, since 6 h memory controls show elevated memories in these flies (Supplemental figure 1I & J).

Together our data suggest that sugar re-exposure after training can devalue sugar related memories independent of memory phases. However, memories in different time phases seem to be vulnerable to the activation of distinct DANs, which drive behavior through independent circuit motifs.



Figure 4: Reward re-exposure diminishes expression of olfactory reward memory. Re-exposing flies to the unpaired sugar reward for 5 min at 3 h after training leads to reduction of memory performance at 6 h ($n \ge 10$) (A). Re-exposing flies to the sugar 3 h or 24 h after training leads to diminished memory retrieval in a 27 h test ($n \ge 10$) (B). Exposing flies to sugar 3 h before training does not affect 6 h memory ($n \ge 25$) (C). In a test against a novel odor approach to the CS+ is reduced after sugar re-exposure ($n \ge 12$) (D). Artificially activating PAM DANs (R58E02-GAL4) for 30 min at 15 min or 24 h after sugar training diminishes 27 h memory. Similarly, activating PAM DANs (T58E02-GAL4) for 30 min at 15 min or 24 h after sugar training diminishes 27 h memory. Similarly, activating PAM DANs (T58E02-GAL4) for 24 h after sugar training, lowers 27 h memory. Similarly, activating LTM DANs labeled by R15A04-GAL4, 15 min or 24 h after sugar training, lowers 27 h memory. Similarly, activating LTM DANs 15 min after training diminishes 1 h memory retrieval ($n \ge 10$) (F). Activating STM DANs (R48B04-GAL4) 15 min or 24 h after sugar training leaves 27 h memory unaltered. Activating STM DANs 15 min after training reduces 6 h memory retrieval ($n \ge 12$) (H). When LTM or STM DANs are activated 3 h after sugar training, memory retrieval at 6 h stays intact ($n \ge 16$) (I). The heart icon in the timelines depicts sugar exposure. In all figures, data represent the mean \pm s.e.m. Individual n are indicated by circles. Asterisks denote significant differences (P < 0.05, t-test or ANOVA)
4.3 Activity from α 1 PAM DANs after learning diminishes aversive memory.

In contrast to appetitive memories, single-trial aversive memories in flies don't get consolidated and fade over time. This decay, known as active forgetting, is mediated by DANs from the PPL1-cluster and β '1 PAM DANs (132, 197). Thus, we tested whether activating β '1 DANs diminishes aversive memory retrieval in our hands. For aversive conditioning we exposed starved flies to one odor (CS+) paired with electric shock, followed by an unpaired second odor (CS-). However, when we activated β '1 PAM DANs (MB025B-GAL4) 1.5 h after single-trial aversive training, 3 h memory was unaltered (Supplemental figure 1K). It is worth noting that the split GAL4 line we used here differs from that used in the study by Shuai et al., which can explain the discordant results. In our screen on appetitive memory, we didn't find a specific subset of DANs mediating the reduction of reward memory at 3 h. Nevertheless, we saw a trend towards memory reduction when activating $\alpha 1$ PAM DANs (Supplemental figure 1H). The α 1 compartment is known for its role in consolidation and rigid memories (118, 154). Therefore, we tested whether activation of α 1 PAM DANs would affect aversive STM. Indeed, when we activated α 1 PAM DANs 1.5 h after aversive training, 3 h memory retrieval was abolished (Supplemental figure 1K). Therefore, we find that under our conditions α1 PAM DANs but not β '1 PAM DANs play a role in forgetting of aversive memories. Further, our experimental data suggest that a PAM DANs play a more general role in stability of memories not limited to appetitive memories.

4.4 Specificity of memory devaluation.

In line with our findings on sugar re-exposure induced memory devaluation, artificial training experiments in flies have shown that reactivating DANs used during training abolishes aversive and appetitive memories (132, 154).

Thus, we next tested whether devaluation by sugar re-exposure is reward specific. Flies were trained as previously using dry sucrose as a reward. At 3 h after training flies were re-exposed to either dried sugar or to standard food. Testing the memory at 6 h after training revealed that sugar-exposure reduces learned approach, whereas exposure to standard fly food shows normal appetitive memory retrieval (Figure 5A). However, re-exposing flies to dry arabinose, a sweet but non-nutritious sugar, at 3 h after sucrose training diminishes learned approach similar to sucrose re-exposure (Figure 5B). Therefore, it seems that reward-memory devaluation is to a certain degree reward-specific. Importantly, these experiments show that sugar-exposure induced changes in hunger level don't effect the memory performance in the test.

To further explore the link between learning and devaluation we switched to artificial training. First, we confirmed previous findings that reactivating specific DANs that have the capacity to write an artificial memory diminishes learned behavior (154). In artificial training the sugar presentation is substituted by shifting flies to high 32°C temperature to activate DANs while presenting paired odor. To reactivate dopamine neurons flies were shifted to 32°C for either 1 min, 2 min or 30 min at 3 h after training (Figure 5C). Testing flies 6 h after training showed that reactivating PAM neurons reduces 6 h artificial memory expression. Though all treatments reduce memory retrieval, the strength of the phenomenon seems to depend on the reactivation length. Thus, we used 30 min reactivation for all following experiments. Importantly, Handling per se did not affect memory performance (Supplemental figure 2A). As thermogenetic activation, optogenetic activation induces an appetitive memory. Exposing optogenetically trained animals to the heat protocol does not affect learned approach confirming that high temperature does not diminish memory expression per se (Supplemental figure 2B). Thermogenetic reactivation of dopamine neurons either early or 24 h after the artificial training impaired memory expression at 24 h or 27 h, respectively (Figure 5D & E). Further, reactivating DANs for 2 min or 30 min at 3 h reduces memory retrieval when tested immediately after (Figure 5F, Supplemental figure 2C). Activating PAM DANs 3 h before the artificial training does not change 6 h memory performance, suggesting that, similar to the sugar pre-exposure, it is the post-training reactivation that reduces memory retrieval (Supplemental figure 2D). Finally, we tested whether our observations apply generally to memories reinforced with different dopamine subsets. To do so, we first assessed which subsets could implement a 6 h memory (Supplemental figure 2E, for labeled DAN subsets see supplemental table 1). Aside from R58E02-GAL4, 0273-GAL4 labels all PAM DANs and is known to implement reward memories when activated during training (198). Accordingly, we observe strong artificial memory scores at 6 h with this line. Additionally, 0279-GAL4 (\beta1 and \beta2 PAM DANs), MB043C-GAL4 (α1 PAM DANs) and MB315C (γ5 PAM DANs) can be used to train a 6 h memory (Supplemental figure 2E). We also observe 6 h memory performance when training with MB194B-GAL4 and R56H09-GAL4, both of which label multiple DAN subsets memory (Supplemental figure 2E). Notably, these lines include α 1 PAM DANs which solely can drive appetitive memory formation. Among PPL1 DANs activating PPL1-y1pedc (MB438B-GAL4) and PPL1- α 3 (MB630B-GAL4) during training leads to an aversive 6 h memory.

In the MB network, MBONs downstream of KCs and DANs can drive either approach or avoidance behavior. Coincident activity of KCs and DANs during learning has been shown to lead to a depression of Ca²⁺ responses in the respective MBON (120, 121). Thus, MBONs downstream of DANs that implement an appetitive memory are expected to convey avoidance behavior. However, most insights come from stimulus free assays looking at self-activation behaviors (122). Understanding of MBON involvement in odor driven behaviors is incomplete. $\gamma 5$, $\beta' 1$, $\alpha 1$, and $\beta 1/\beta 2$ PAMs implement appetitive memory in our screen (Supplemental figure 2E). Yet, in the study by Aso *et al.* flies do not show consistent avoidance of activation of

downstream MBONs. Owald et al. demonstrated that inhibiting output from MBONs receiving input in the v5 and B'2 compartments reverses innate odor avoidance (121). Further, odorevoked activity in these neurons is depressed following appetitive conditioning. Both findings support our result that y5 PAM DANs reinforce reward. Nevertheless, whether MBONs receiving input from $\alpha 1$ and $\beta 1/\beta 2$ PAM DANs are involved approach or avoidance behavior is unknown. We conducted odor avoidance assays to test the capacity of MBONs to steer odor driven behaviors (Supplemental figure 2F, for MBONs labeled by driver lines see supplemental table 1). At high concentrations 3-octanol is aversive to flies. When given the choice between 3-octanol and air, wild type flies avoid the odor. Blocking output from avoidance coding MBONs these compartments should therefore lead to a reduction in odor avoidance. In accordance with published results, we observe diminished odor avoidance when restricting output from MBON-y5β'2β in conjunction with MBON-β'2mp (MB210B-GAL4) (121). Similarly, blocking MBON- α 1 (MB310C-GAL4) and MBON- β 1> α (MB434B-GAL4) leads to a trend towards reduced odor avoidance (Supplemental figure 2F). Thus, these MBONs seem to convey avoidance behavior. Together with our artificial training results, these findings strengthen the notion that $\alpha 1$, $\beta 1/\beta 2$ and $\gamma 5$ PAM DANs can implement appetitive memories during learning. Additionally, we find, that blocking output from MBON-y3 with MBON-y3B'1 (MB083C-GAL4), MBON-α3 with MBON-α'2 (MB082C) and MBON-β'2d (SS95105-GAL4) leads to reduced odor avoidance (Supplemental figure 2F). Interestingly the α3 compartment is innervated by PPL1 DANs with aversive reinforcement potential. MBONs downstream of punishment-reinforcing DANs are expected to drive approach behavior. Blocking of these MBONs should therefore result in increased or at least unaltered odor avoidance. The result that MBON-α3 contributes to odor avoidance points towards more complex interrelationships in the network.

Of the artificial memories implemented by neurons labeled by different driver lines, we tested five lines for reduction after artificial activation of the same DANs (plus repetition of R58E02-GAL4). 3 h reactivation of all but two subsets diminishes learned approach tested at 6 h (Figure 5G).

The tested DAN subsets included the STM-DANs (R48B04-GAL4) and LTM-DANs (R15A04-GAL4) labeling GAL4 driver lines. Activating both DAN subsets during training in independent experiments produced a 6 h appetitive memory. However, reactivating the same DANs at 3 h only led to memory reduction in the case of STM-DANs (Figure 5G). To test for memory phase specific effects, we also assessed the impact of reactivation 15 min after training. Artificial 1 h memory implemented by STM-DANs was significantly reduced after reactivation (Figure 5J). In line with activating LTM-DANs after sugar learning, reactivating LTM-DANs 3 h after artificial training involving the same neurons did not significantly alter 6 h memory. Yet, 27 h artificial memory was impaired after reactivation either 15 min or 24 h after training (Figure 5H &I).

These results suggest that in addition to memory type specific effects, in the early phase after learning the memory is more general sensitive to disruption by DAN activity.

Together, these results confirm previous findings and support the conclusion that reactivation of PAM DANs perturbs consolidated artificial-reward memories independent of the timepoint of reactivation and leads to a permanent loss of learned approach behavior.



Figure 5: Specificity of memory devaluation. While re-exposing flies to sugar for 5 min at 3 h after training leads to memory devaluation, feeding flies regular fly food instead does not affect memory performance at 6 h (n \ge 11) (A). Similarly to re-exposing flies to sucrose, providing them with arabinose (a sweet-only sugar) 3 h after training leads to reduction of memory performance at 6 h (n \ge 17) (B). Artificially activating PAM DANs for 1 min, 2 min or 30 min at 3 h after artificial training (dTRPA1 expression under R58E02-GAL4) diminishes memory retrieval in a 6 h test (n \ge 14) (C). There seems to be a link between length of activation and the strength of the phenotype. Therefore, 30 min reactivation was used in subsequent experiments. Artificial reactivation of R58E02-labeled neurons to 15 min or 24 h after artificial training (using the same line) diminishes 27 h memory retrieval (n ≥ 10) (D & E). Memory is gone immediately (3 h 35 min test) after reactivation at 3 h after training (n ≥ 6) (F). When reactivating the same set of PAM DANs used during artificial training 3 h later, 6 h memory performance is diminished for four lines (R58E02-GAL4, 0273-GAL4, 0279-GAL4, MB504B-GAL4) out of 6 lines tested. When the used lines include α1 PAM DANs (R15a04-GAL4, MB043C-GAL4) memory is maintained (n ≥ 8) (G). Activating LTM DANs labeled by R15A04-GAL4 15 min or 24 h after artificial training with neurons labeled by the same line reduces 27 h memory (n ≥ 10) (H & I). Activating STM DANs (R48B04-GAL4) 15 min after R48B04 artificial training diminishes 1 h memory ($n \ge 8$) (J). The filled heart icon in the timelines depicts sucrose exposure, the empty heart icon depicts arabinose exposure. In all figures, data represent the mean ± s.e.m. Individual n are indicated by circles. Asterisks denote significant differences (P < 0.05, t-test or ANOVA)

To explore the interplay of different reinforcement circuits across training and reactivation we combined existing tools to generate flies expressing the thermogenetic activatable cation channel dTRPA1 under UAS control and additionally the light-activatable CsChrimson under lexAOP control (97, 98). Using these flies, one set of DANs can be used to establish an artificial memory, whereas a second set of DANs can be used to later reactivate a different set of neurons in a controlled manner (Figure 6A). First, we used R58E02-GAL4 and -LexA to express *dTRPA1* and *CsChrimson*. Temperature and light activation in these flies can write a memory. Reactivation with the respective other tool, light or temperature, diminishes the reward memory (Figure 6B &C). In the next step we tested whether writing a memory with R58E02-DANs is affected by R15A04-LTM DANs. However, the activation of R15A04-DANs at 3 h and test at 6 h, or reactivation at 15 min or 24 h hours with test at 27 h leaves the R58E02-DAN memory unaltered (Figure 6D&E). Similarly, activation of R48B04-DANs 3 h after training doesn't affect 6 h R58E02-DAN memory (Figure 6F). Conversely, R15A04 and R48B04-DAN memories are both diminished by R58E02-DAN reactivation (Figure 6G&H). To exclude effects from the used tool, we repeated training with R58E02-GAL4 labeled DANs and activation of R15A04-DANs using the respective other tool for training and subsequent activation. This experiment revealed the same result as before (Supplemental figure 3). Thus, rather than erasing specific memory phases, larger subsets of dopamine neurons seem to affect memories written by smaller subsets. To further test this hypothesis, we trained with 0273 GAL4 labeled PAM DANs (120-130 neurons) and reactivated R58E02-DANs (90 neurons) (3, 13, 16). Reactivating R58E02-lexA labeled cells following training reduces approach behavior slightly but not significantly compared to the control (Figure 6I). However, in the inverse experiment, training with R58E02-lexA labeled cells and reactivating the larger 0273-DAN cluster, the memory is completely abolished (Figure 6J). Thus, it seems that memory performance is diminished when the unpaired activation includes at least the same or more neurons than those involved during training for the respective memory phase. This idea goes in line with the result that none of the PAM clusters can individually reduce sugar memory when activated after training (Supplemental figure 1). Interestingly, when we expose flies to real-world sugar after training with R58E02-GAL4 labeled DANs, the memory is unaltered, suggesting that R58E02-GAL4 activation and sugar induced activity are not matching (Figure 6K).







F CsChrimson dTRPA1 Test Training Activation

Test

6h

+



UAS-dTRPA1, lexAOPCsChrimson; R48B04-GAL4 ∩ R58E02-lexA R58E02 training, R48B04 activation





UAS-dTRPA1, lexAOP-CsChrimson; 0273-GAL4 ∩ R58E02-lexA R58E02 training, 0273 activation





0h 6h 3h UAS-dTRPA1,I exAOP-CsChrimson; R58E02-GAL4 ∩ R58E02-lexA R58E02 training, R58E02 reactivation





UAS-dTRPA1, lexAOP-CsChrimson; R15A04-GAL4 ∩ R58E02-lexA R15A04 training, R58E02 activation





UAS-dTRPA1 ∩ R58E02-lexA R58E02 training, sugar exposure



Figure 6: Reactivation of the same or more neurons than activated during training leads to memory devaluation. Schematic illustration of the paradigm, the full circle depicts the entire PAM DAN cluster (A). Driving the expression of the thermos-sensitive dTRPA1 and the light-sensitive CsChrimson under UAS or lexAOP control, with different driver lines (GAL4 or lexA) allows to train with one subset of neurons (indicated in orange) and activate a different (indicated in red) set later. Activating the same set or more PAM DANs after training leads to memory reduction. On the contrary, activating a smaller subset than involved in training leaves the memory unaffected. When expressing *dTRAP1* and *CsChrimson* both in R58E02 labeled neurons the memory is reduced when training is done thermogenetically and reactivation optogenetically ($n \ge 4$) (B) or the other way around ($n \ge 6$) (C). In (C) optogenetic activation consisted of 3 trials, 2 min activation each (634 nm, 500 Hz, 19.5 lm/W) with an inter trial interval (ITI) of 2 min. In all other experiments optogenetic and thermogenetic activation after training lasted for 30 min. Activating R15A04-lexA labeled neurons (LTM DANs) 3 h after training with R58E02-GAL4 labeled neurons leaves 6 h memory unchanged (n ≥ 11) (D). Likewise activating LTM DANs 15 min or 24 h after R58E02 training does not affect memory retrieval at a 27 h timepoint (n ≥ 6) (E). Further, activating R48B04-GAl4 labeled neurons $(n \ge 11)$ (STM DANs) 3 h after R58E02 training leaves 6 h memory performance intact ($n \ge 10$) (F). Both R15A04 and R48B04 memories at 6 h are reduced if R58E02-lexA labeled lines are reactivated 3 h after training ($n \ge 8$) (G & H). Though activating R58E02-lexA labeled neurons after training with the larger DAN subset labeled by 0273-GAL4 leads to a tendency towards memory reduction at 6 h, this trend is not significant ($n \ge 10$) (I). Activating 0273-GAL4 labeled neurons 3 h after training, leads to diminished R58E02 memory at 6 h (J). Exposing flies to sugar for 5 min at 3 h after artificial training with R58E02-GAL4 labeled neurons leaves 6 h memory unchanged ($n \ge 16$) (K). In all figures, data represent the mean ± s.e.m. Individual n are indicated by circles. Asterisks denote significant differences (P < 0.05, t-test or ANOVA)

4.5 Sugar memory re-evaluation and memory reduction by PAM DAN activity are two distinct mechanisms.

PAM DANs signal reward-related information to the mushroom body system. Further our experiments show that the reactivation of PAM DANs after sugar learning leads to sugarreward memory reduction. Therefore, we next tested whether PAM DANs are necessary for the sugar-exposure induced memory devaluation. To interfere with neuronal function, we expressed the temperature-sensitive dynamin mutant shibire (shi^{ts}) in PAM DAN neurons labeled by R58E02-GAL4 (99). Shifting flies to restrictive high temperature reversibly interferes with presynaptic small vesicle release (for simplicity reasons referred to as "blocking" in the rest of this thesis). Flies expressing shi^{ts} in PAM DANs were trained in permissive low temperature and were shifted to high temperature before and during the sugar re-exposure. Maybe surprisingly, testing flies at the permissive temperature revealed that blocking PAM DANs leaves sugar induced memory devaluation unchanged (Figure 7A). Flies can sense the nutritious value of sugar after feeding (199). To exclude prolonged reward signaling during digestion, we prolonged blocking of PAM DANs until 30 min after sugar re-exposure and obtained the same result as with shorter blocking (Supplemental figure 4A). Further blocking PAM DANs with an even broader driver line (0273-GAL4) confirms that blocking vesicle release from PAM DANs does not impact memory devaluation (Supplemental figure 4B). Considering heterogeneity of PAM DANs, different subpopulations could exert antagonizing effects. Thus, blocking all PAM DANs could lead in sum to no change. The α 1 compartment seems to store particular stable memories, aversive memory retrieval is reduced and appetitive memory expression shows a tendency of reduction when activating PAM- α 1 after training (154) (Supplemental figure 1H &K). Therefore, we blocked these DANs specifically during sugar re-exposure. However, memory devaluation was not reversed when blocking α1 PAM DANs (Supplemental figure 4C). Since activation of PAM DANs after training diminishes memory performance and *shi*^{ts} does leave activity within the neuron intact, we asked whether memory reduction through artificial activation is mediated by *shi*^{ts} independent PAM DAN activity. Hence, we co-expressed the light inducible cation channel CsChrimson together with *shi*^{ts} in PAM DANs labeled by R58E02-GAL4. When we reactivated PAM after artificial training, learned avoidance was diminished (Figure 7B). However, when PAM DAN neurons were reactivated at the restrictive temperature, the memory stayed intact (Figure 7B). This result demonstrates that reduction mediated by activation of PAM DANs depends on *shi*^{ts} dependent signaling. In conclusion, despite the similar consequences on learned behavior the reduction of memory by artificial DAN activation or by sugar re-exposure are different mechanisms. Interestingly, blocking R58E02-labeled neurons in handling controls increases memory performance at 6 h (Figure 7A). Thus, though PAM DANs seem not to contribute to re-exposure induced devaluation their activity seems to bidirectionally control memory strength: PAM DAN activation diminishes memory expression while blocking baseline activity of PAM neurons increases expression of learned approach.

Our experiments demonstrate that blocking vesicle release from PAM DANs with shits does not affect re-exposure induced memory devaluation. Thus, either shi^s independent PAM DAN signaling or other pathways are mediating memory devaluation. To test the latter, we set out to check different neuronal groups that are known to be part of the MB network. Namely: PPL1 DANs and other dopaminergic neurons of the fly brain (so called PPL2-, PD1-, and PPM1,2&3-DANs) (MB504B-GAL4, TH-GAL4), Kenyon Cells themselves (R13F02-GAL4), octopaminergic neurons (Tdc2-GAL4), serotonergic neurons (Trh-GAL4) and DPM neurons (5015-GAL4) (Figure 7C-G). Of note, solely blocking KC reduces memory performance in the test, suggesting that output from KC at 3 h is involved in memory maintenance (Figure 7C). One explanation could be a slightly prolonged consolidation window (over the expected 1.5 – 2 h) since output from α'/β' KCs is known to be crucial during the consolidation phase (104). Genetic controls showed the same 6 h memory scores as the experimental group (Supplemental figure 4D). We also tested involvement of Lateral horn output neurons PD2a1/b1 (LH989-GAL4) which have been shown to be involved in aversive memory retrieval and are predicted to connect to neurons from the PPL1/ and PAM cluster (101, 193, 200) (Figure 7H). Further we probed a large number of the peripheral sweet sensing neurons targeted by Gr64f-GAL4 that are necessary for sugar preference (201) (Figure 7I). Last we expressed shi^{ts} using a driver line broadly labeling cholinergic neurons (ChAT-GAL4) (Figure 7J). Overall, none of the experiments resulted in maintenance of the memory despite sugar re-exposure. (Figure 7C-J and Supplemental figure 4A-C).

As reported in Aso *et al.* 2019 subclasses of DANs express nitric oxide synthase (NOS) and produce nitric oxide (NO) as a neurotransmitter upon learning (166). Plasticity induced by NO co-transmission onto KCs leads to the formation of a memory of opposing valence to the

memory established by dopamine. Thus, blocking NO signaling increases aversive memory expression. We therefore tested whether NO is involved in sugar-mediated re-evaluation of the appetitive memory. As previously reported by Aso et al., we used L-NNA to pharmacologically block NOS (166). First, we tested whether blocking NO-signaling increases reward learning as suggested. In a first approach we fed flies with food containing 100 mM L-NNA for 24 h prior to the starvation that precedes reward training. Indeed, when comparing flies fed on L-NNA to the controls in a 6 h memory test, they show an enhanced reward memory expression (Supplemental figure 4E). Nevertheless, sugar re-exposure 3 h after training led to reduction of memory in L-NNA fed and control flies (Supplemental figure 4E). These experiments demonstrate that blocking NO signaling 24 h before training increases reward learning but leaves re-exposure-driven memory devaluation intact. Next, we tested the effectiveness of L-NNA-application for shorter time phases. We placed flies into vials containing a filter-paper soaked in saturated L-NNA solution, during the starvation period at 3 h before the training. Again, compared to the controls, these flies showed enhanced 6 h memory performance (Supplemental figure 4F). Consequently, we tested whether interfering with NO-signaling directly before sugar re-exposure affects memory devaluation. Flies were trained and presented with L-NNA immediately afterwards until the sugar re-exposure at 3 h. In the 6 h test, there was no difference in memory reduction between the two groups (Figure 7L). Thus, NO signaling is not involved in memory devaluation upon sugar re-exposure. Of note, memory expression was not enhanced when flies only received L-NNA after learning, showing that NO specifically affects learning and not consolidation or retrieval (Supplemental figure 4E &F).



Figure 7:**Sugar memory re-evaluation is independent from PAM DAN small vesicle release.** When blocking R58E02-GAL4 labeled neurons (using *shi*^{ts}) during sugar re-exposure, sugar-mediated memory devaluation still occurs ($n \ge 12$) (A). Only blocking PAM DANs for 35 min at 3 h after training enhances memory expression at 6 h ($n \ge 12$) (A). When output from PAM DANs is restricted while artificially reactivating neurons at 3 h, DAN activity-mediated memory reduction is impaired ($n \ge 6$) (B). Blocking none of the tested neuronal population during sugar re-exposure sugar-mediated memory devaluation (C-K). Candidates tested: KCs (R13F02-GAL4) ($n \ge 15$) (C), PPL1-, PPL2-, PAL-, PPM1-3-DANs (TH-GAL4) ($n \ge 10$) (D), serotonergic neurons (Trh-GAL4) ($n \ge 11$) (E), octopaminergic neurons (Tcd2-GAL4) ($n \ge 12$) (F), pair of DPM-neurons (5015-GAL4) ($n \ge 12$) (G), PD2a1/b1 LHONs (LH989-GAL4) ($n \ge 11$) (H), sweet gustatory receptor neurons (Gr64f-GAL4) ($n \ge 7$) (I), cholinergic neurons (ChAT-GAL4) ($n \ge 14$) (J) and glial cells (repo-GAL4) ($n \ge 8$) (K). Similarly, Inhibiting NOS activity (L-NNA) between training and sugar re-exposure doesn't impact sugar-mediated memory devaluation ($n \ge 8$) (L). The heart symbol in the timelines depicts sugar exposure. In all figures, data represent the mean \pm s.e.m. Individual n are indicated by circles. Asterisks denote significant differences (P < 0.05, t-test or ANOVA)

4.6 Contextual control of sugar memory devaluation.

Re-exposure to training related cues, including contextual information, can induce update of learned information. Given that in natural settings more than one cue can be associated with a meaningful event, it is a promising strategy to use reward re-exposure to target all related memories. Therefore, we tested whether sugar re-exposure in flies can affect multiple memories associated with the reward. To implement two distinct memories, flies were trained in two training sessions that were spaced by 3 h. During these sessions, two distinct odor pairs were used in the first and the second training. Testing 3 h after the second training shows that both memories are retrievable (Figure 8A). However, when flies were re-exposed to the sugar 3 h after the second training and tested again 3 h later, both memories are diminished (Figures 8B &C). These experiments show two things; first re-exposure to the reward can devaluate multiple associations and second, that sugar presentation during the second training does not affect the memory established during the first training. The latter is consistent with the general notion that new learning can protect memory update (Figure 8D). However, in the previous experiments sugar re-exposure was conducted in vials similar to those used for starvation and different to tubes used for the T-maze. Thus, to directly compare, we conducted an experiment where flies were trained and re-exposed 3 h later to either the sugar only or the sugar paired to a novel odor within the T-maze setting. Maybe surprisingly, we found that in both groups the learned approach was intact, suggesting that sugar re-exposure in the T-maze does not lead to memory devaluation (Figure 8E). To test whether the context of sugar re-exposure is important we trained flies and either re-exposed them to sugar in starvation vials or within the T-maze. Indeed, flies that received the re-exposure in starvation vials outside the T-maze show reduced memory scores whereas flies re-exposed to the sugar in the T-maze have intact 6 h and 24 h memories (Figure 8F and Supplemental figure 5A). Therefore, it seems reasonable to conclude that sugar re-exposure induced memory devaluation is gated by the context. We conducted several experiments in which we systematically tried to vary components such as light, airflow orientation, and texture of the context in the T-maze as well as in starvation vials (Figure 8G-J, Supplemental figure 5). Nonetheless, whenever sugar re-exposure was conducted in T-maze tubes, sugar memory remained intact. In contrast, when sugar is delivered outside of the T-maze tubes memory seems to be devalued. To test whether this context dependency relates to the meaning assigned to the T-maze environment during training, we trained flies in the vials used for sugar re-exposure. However, we didn't observe a shift in context dependency. As before, re-exposure to sugar in starvation vials leads to memory devaluation whereas flies exposed to sugar in T-maze tubes show no reduction in memory retrieval (Figure 8K). This data exclude the interpretation that the training context could provide additional information that could protect the memory from being devalued. Nevertheless, starvation and testing context are consistent over the two experiments.

Therefore, it rather seems that sugar memory devaluation is either bound to the starvation context or depends on the context relationship between sugar re-exposure and test.

Interestingly, when we repeated these experiments for artificial memories using R58E02-GAL4 labeled PAMs during training and reactivation, we observe no context dependency (Figure 8 L). In fact, we find that, independent of the setting, when PAM DANs are reactivated artificially memories are diminished. This includes reactivation paired with a novel odor (Supplemental figure 5C). These results further support our conclusion that sugar induced devaluation and DAN-driven memory update are distinct processes.



Figure 8: Sugar-mediated memory devaluation is context dependent. When sugar is trained with two sets of odors (second training 3 h after the first training), flies can retrieve both memories in a test 3 h after the second training ($n \ge 10$) (A). Sugar re-exposure after two sets of training leads to devaluation of both memories ($n \ge 10$) (B & C). New learning (presentation of a novel odor together with sugar during re-exposure) prevents sugar-mediated memory devaluation ($n \ge 16$) (D). Sugar re-exposure in the T-maze leaves the memory intact whether or not a novel odor is present ($n \ge 10$) (E & F). Re-exposing flies to sugar in vials without agar leads to memory devaluation ($n \ge 10$) (G). Memory is maintained if sugar is presented in the T-maze does not initiate devaluation of the memory ($n \ge 12$) (J). When flies are trained in starvation vials, the memory is still devaluated when sugar re-exposure happens in the same vials and maintained if sugar is presented in the T-maze ($n \ge 11$) (K): Artificial reactivation of PAM DANs in the T-maze does lead to diminished memory independent of the context ($n \ge 8$) (L). The heart symbol in the timelines depicts sugar exposure. In all figures, data represent the mean ± s.e.m. Individual n are indicated by circles. Asterisks denote significant differences (P < 0.05, t-test or ANOVA).

5 Discussion

A crucial aspect of treating disease involving maladaptive memories is to target underpinning associations. To date, many approaches are inefficient and unreliable since underlying principles are not sufficiently understood. In this study we apply a simple learning paradigm using *Drosophila melanogaster* to assess the processes involved in memory updating. We find that re-exposure to the reward after olfactory conditioning devalues previously learned cuereward associations in a context dependent manner. Similarly, reactivation of reward-reinforcing PAM DANs leads to diminished memory retrieval. Though apparently similar it seems that these phenotypes emerge through two distinct mechanisms.

5.1 Reward-exposure-mediated memory update.

Maladaptive forms of memory can promote harmful behaviors, such as substance abuse. In these cases, it is beneficial to modify the problematic memory. Memories can be changed in active update processes that require exposure to a reminder in conditions that lead to a mismatch from the expected outcome (prediction error). Typically, the non-reinforced presentation of the conditioned stimulus (CS) is used as a reminder cue. This can lead to memory update in one of two ways: extinction or reconsolidation. Larger prediction errors, such as from extended or repeated CS exposure, lead to extinction learning (28). Since the omission of expected reward or punishment is aversive or appetitive, respectively, a new memory of opposing valence to the original memory is learned. Together these memories balance each other out and lead to a weakened behavioral outcome (26, 31). However, the old memory can regain dominance in different ways: the original memory usually resurfaces over time (recovery)(1). Repeated exposure to the US can renew the behavioral response (renewal) or the memory is reinstated by experiencing a context very similar to the original learning situation (reinstatement)(26, 29). These effects are a major challenge in clinical application.

A shorter CS presentation can trigger reconsolidation, during which the memory becomes destabilized and is vulnerable to change (28, 40). While the memory can be retrieved throughout the reconsolidation process, it must be restabilized in a protein synthesis dependent manner to persist over time. Therefore, interfering with the restabilization step, e.g. by blocking protein synthesis, leads to memory erasure (202). Thus, reconsolidation offers a promising alternative to extinction-based approaches in the treatment of maladaptive memory disorders. In both cases, using the CS as a reminder cue has the caveat that only the respective CS-US association is weakened. Other cues associated with the US can still elicit the harmful behavior (56). In contrast, the US is part of the connection to all associated CS. Indeed, it has been shown that using the US as a reminder can initiate reconsolidation of multiple related memories (57). When we exposed flies to the same sugar reward after sugar learning, we find that trained flies show diminished memory retrieval (Figure 4A-D). Though

this finding reminds of an extinction-like phenotype, we don't observe any sign of recovery as a hallmark of extinction (26). Instead, the memory seems to be permanently lost since it doesn't recover after 24 h (Figure 4B). Alternatively, memory retrieval could be permanently suppressed by additional plasticity established in other parts of the circuit. However, it is unclear how and where this additional information could be integrated into the network. During the devaluation session, there is neither an odor cue present nor an omission of reward that would serve as an aversive teaching signal for the animal. Future functional imaging experiments will address this question and reveal whether the initially established plasticity is reversed after sugar re-exposure.

In vertebrates, re-exposure to the US has been shown to initiate reconsolidation of multiple CS-US associations. Interfering with memory restabilization after presenting a US reminder impaired freezing response to two separately trained tones (56). However, if the two tones were paired with different types of shocks (eyelid or foot shock), the presentation of each type of shock could only destabilize the respective memory (56). This experiment showed that there is a specificity regarding the US used in the reminder session. In line with this study, we observed reduced retrieval for two different odors that were independently learned when only the reward was presented again after learning (Figure 8B &D). However, presenting a different food reward (cornstarch based flyfood), does not impact memory retrieval, mirroring US specificity (Figure 5A). In contrast to published studies and perhaps surprising, the reward memory in flies is diminished without further intervention. This phenotype can be explained by the potential of reconsolidation to change memories. Therefore, what we present here appears to be a reconsolidation-like process during which novel experience is integrated in a way that weakens the memory. Exploiting this novel paradigm to investigate the underlying processes can contribute to the understanding of general rules in reconsolidation memory update.

5.2 Separable mechanisms can abolish reward memory

In *Drosophila*, artificial activation of PAM DANs is often used as a substitute for a naturalistic reward experience. Neurons from the PAM cluster have been shown to be crucial in reward learning since blocking vesicle release from PAM DANs can impair the formation of different reward memories such as food, water, or sexual rewards (124, 135, 203, 204). Activating these neurons during conditioning can substitute for a real-world reward and assign positive valence to a cue. In line with the role of DANs in reward reinforcement and in accordance with a recently published study, we find that activation of PAM DANs after sugar training leads to memory loss (155) (Figure 4E &H). Surprisingly, blocking PAM DANs after learning leads to the opposite, an increase in memory performance (Figure 7A). Accordingly, PAM DANs seem to be good candidates to mediate sugar-driven memory devaluation. However, when blocking output from PAM DANs during sugar re-exposure the memory reduction is intact (Figure 7A, Supplemental

figure 4A &B). Thus, in contrast to forgetting through DAN activity, memory devaluation by sugar re-exposure is independent of the *shibire*-mediated neurotransmitter release from PAM DANs. We observed further differences between the paradigms: exposing flies to a novel odor during sugar re-exposure (new learning), protects the memory from being diminished (Figure 8D). Still, presenting a novel odor while activating PAM DANs leads to memory impairment (Supplemental figure 5C). Furthermore, memory devaluation by sugar re-exposure is context dependent while erasure by artificial PAM DANs is context-independent (Figure 8I).

Therefore, we conclude that these processes depend on two separable mechanisms (Figure 9). The first involves ongoing activity in PAM DANs, which may influence the homeostasis between memory maintenance and forgetting of reward memories. Similar to active forgetting of unconsolidated aversive memories, this ongoing PAM DAN activity might be influenced by the fly's state (19). The exact nature of this state and its involvement remain to be explored. The second mechanism involves re-exposure to the actual sugar reward, representing an acute life event for the flies that leads to memory update. As a result, the learned association between the cue and the reward is devalued. This process does not depend on PAM DAN output.



Figure 9: Two separate mechanisms reduce reward memory expression. Artificial activation of PAM DANs after appetitive learning leads to impairment in a later test. Correspondingly, inhibition of PAM DANs between training and test leads to enhanced memory performance (left panel). Independent from PAM DANs' small vesicle release, sugar re-exposure can lead to memory devaluation in a context dependent manner (right panel).

5.3 DAN-mediated balance between maintenance and forgetting of a memory.

The fate of learned information is defined by processes that support memory maintenance and those that favor forgetting (18). Recent work has suggested that these two seemingly antagonistic operations are active processes (132). Activity from distinct dopaminergic neurons seem to be able to bias the memory to be either stabilized or promote its decay (19). Aversive memories do not get consolidated after a single training session and fade within the first hours after learning. Inhibiting aversive coding PPL1 DANs can delay this effect, while

activating the same neurons leads to rapid memory loss (132). It seems that increased activity (walking) of the fly translates into higher ongoing activity in PPL1 DANs (19). Over time this constant input leads to reversal of plasticity in MBONs established during learning, a process known as active forgetting (19). Additionally, a different study reports the involvement of β '1 PAM DANs in active forgetting of aversive memories (197). However, our results do not show an effect of β '1 PAM DAN stimulation on aversive memory (Supplemental figure 1K). This discrepancy could be explained by the use of different driver lines. Instead, activation of a1 PAM DANs after one trial aversive training diminishes memory performance in our experiments (Supplemental figure 1K). The α 1 compartment of the MB is involved in consolidation (118). Perturbing α 1 signaling could therefore disrupt memory maintenance. In line with the concept of active forgetting, activating PAM DANs after learning impairs memory retrieval without recovering within 24 h after appetitive conditioning (132) (Figure 4E). Yet, appetitive memories in the fly require only one training trial to become long lasting (Supplemental figure 1A). Activating PAM DANs at a later timepoint after training leads to forgetting of the stabilized memory, which cannot be explained by a disruption of consolidation processes. Rather than a permanent loss of memory, studies on consolidated aversive memories suggest a transient form of forgetting following exposure to threatening stimuli-mediated by PPL1 DANs. Artificially activating PPL1 DANs after multiple training trials leads to temporary retrieval deficit (20). In contrast to active forgetting, plasticity in the MBONs is not changed even when the memory cannot be expressed on a behavioral level. Memories recover after some time, but forgetting lasted up to 14 days depending on activation strength of PPL1 DANs (20). Similarly, PPL1 DANs are involved in the hunger state dependent expression of food memories. Activity from PPL1-y1pedc DANs transiently counteracts memory expression when the animal is in a fed state (151). Therefore, DAN activity not only influences maintenance of an unconsolidated memory but also modulates retrievability of memories in coherence with the animal's state. Modulation of memory expression could also explain increased retrieval after block of PAM DANs (Figure 7A). Experiencing a period in which reward is limited to the minimum (due to block of reward DANs), could tune the system to a state in which retrieval of any memory guiding towards reward is favored, in contrast to situations where reward is abundant anyway. Whether sugar memory expression would recover after longer time subsequent to PAM DAN activation is unknown. Since flies need to be starved for sugar learning and memory retrieval, later testing timepoints require in between feeding to keep flies alive. To avoid refeeding effects, we refrained from testing later timepoints. However, we observed a gradual effect in forgetting depending on the length of DAN reactivation (Figure 5C). Shorter reactivation sessions diminished retrieval but to a lesser extend compared to longer DAN reactivations. Thus, it might be that there is a linear relationship between memory devaluation and DAN reactivation or that short DAN activation leads to transient forgetting that is recovered within

2.5 h between reactivation and test. Testing flies at different timepoints including shortly after DAN activation together with functional imaging experiments will be necessary to answer this question.

How can DANs exert opposing functions? Since PAM DANs are heterogenous in their function, different processes can be mediated by different neurons. Indeed, transient forgetting relies on PPL1- $\alpha 2\alpha' 2$ DANs that are not directly involved in learning, thus separating learning and forgetting on a neuronal level (20). However, active forgetting involves the same DANs (PPL1- γ 1pedc> α/β and PPL1- γ 2 α '1) as aversive learning (132). We couldn't identify a specific subset of PAM DANs diminishing reward memory expression (Supplemental figure 1H). Our data suggest that the same neurons involved in training must be reactivated later to reduce memory performance (Figure 6). Thus, the same neurons fulfill antagonistic functions. In the fly, four different dopamine receptors are known (77). Learning requires Dop1R1 in KCs and its downstream signaling via Gs and the adynyly cyclase rutabaga (125, 136, 137, 205). On the contrary, Berry et al. showed that active forgetting of aversive memory is mediated by the receptor cascade of Dop1R2 (DAMB) which activates Gq and the IP₃ pathway (132, 158). The two receptors show different sensitivities in dopamine binding and are differently co-regulated (126, 158). Therefore, dopamine input can activate different downstream receptor cascades, depending on the concentration and coincidence with other signals. Functional divergence can also be achieved through different transmitter systems. DANs have been shown to co-release NO and dopamine during learning. Such NO signaling leads to the formation of a memory of opposing valence dampening the effect of dopamine (166). Blocking NO signaling before but not after sugar training, indeed leads to an enhancement in appetitive learning (Supplemental figure 4E &F). Furthermore, a recent study reported the involvement of GABAergic cotransmission from DANs in the forgetting of appetitive memories (155). Thus, decreased retrievability of the sugar memory after activation of PAM DANs could be mediated by corelease of other transmitters than dopamine.

5.3.1 Time phase dependency

Memories are assigned different time phases. Early after learning they exist as so-called shortterm memories (STM) followed by a phase of mid-term memory until a few hours after training and later become stabilized as long-term memories (LTM). In *Drosophila* STM and LTM are stored in different lobes of the MB (116, 117). Further, separate PAM DANs subpopulations are involved in reinforcement for either STM or LTM (STM-DANs (R48B04-GAL4), LTM-DANs (R15A04-GAL4)) (138, 139) (Supplemental figure 1E &F). Therefore, it seems that STM and LTM exist as separate systems. Hence, we wondered whether they could also be separated on a level of forgetting. When activating the broad cluster of PAM DANs after training STM, and LTM memory was diminished independently of the timepoint of activation (Figure 4E &H). Though stimulation of STM-DANs 15 min after training, led to a strong trend towards reduction of STM, it left LTM unaffected (Figure 4G). Similarly, activating STM-DANs late (24 h) after training did not diminish LTM expression (Figure 4G). Interestingly, driving LTM-DANs either early or one day after learning reduced LTM performance (Figure 4F). Perhaps surprisingly, early activation of LTM-DANs also reduced STM retrieval (Figure 4F). Both STM- and LTM-DANs have only weak capacities to reinforce mid-term memory (6 h) (Figure 5G, Supplemental figure 1E &F). Accordingly, mid-term memory was only diminished by activation of the broad DAN cluster but stayed intact after STM-DAN or LTM-DAN activation 3 h after training (Figure 4I).

Together, STM is reduced independent of the activated subpopulation of DANs whereas LTM is only diminished when the driver line used for activation includes LTM-DANs. Intermediate memory was not affected by either STM- or LTM-DAN activation. Thus, our data confirms a model in which STM and LTM act on different memory circuits and we find a certain degree of specificity in forgetting. In line with memories being vulnerable shortly after learning, it suggests an open time window in which disturbing signaling processes by DAN activation in general leads to forgetting.

5.4 DAN vesicle release independent memory devaluation

Unpaired re-exposure to sugar after sugar learning leads to diminished memory retrieval (Figure 4A-D). However, this process seems to be distinct from forgetting mediated by PAM DANs. When output from PAM DANs during sugar re-exposure is restricted, devaluation still occurs (Figure 7A, Supplemental figure 4A &B). This suggests that other neurons or mechanisms might be involved. In our endeavor to investigate the underlying circuits of the phenomenon we probed different neuronal populations impinging on the MB network. We tested the requirement of output from aversive reinforcing PPL1 DANs, as well as additional DAN clusters of the fly brain labeled by the TH-GAL4 driver line (i.e. PPL2-, PD1-, PPM1,2&3and PAL-DANs) (Figure 7D). Further we blocked KCs, octopaminergic neurons labeled by Tdc2-GAL4, most of the serotonergic neurons (Trh-GAL4), DPM neurons, a pair of LHONs (PD2a1/b1), cholinergic neurons labeled by chAT-GAL4 as well as gustatory receptor neurons labeled by Gr64f-GAL4 and glia cells (Figure 7C &E-K). Our results showed that none of these genetic manipulations prevented memory devaluation. We used genetic expression of shibire, a dynamin mutant interfering with recycling of small vesicles at the presynapse (99). As a result, the presynaptic neuron depletes its vesicle pool and transmitter release is impaired. Nonetheless, signaling via other systems like gap junctions, neuropeptides or gaseous molecules remains functional. NO is a gaseous neurotransmitter that has been shown to be co-released from PPL1 and PAM DANs (166). Co-transmission of NO during learning leads to the formation of a memory that opposes the dopamine-mediated memory (166). When we pharmacologically blocked NO synthesis before appetitive training memory performance was

enhanced (Supplemental figure 4E &F). Hence, we tested whether NO release is involved in sugar memory devaluation. However, when we blocked NO synthesis during sugar reexposure, memory retrieval at the test was still reduced (Figure 7L). Thus, we exclude NO as the crucial player in reward memory devaluation. Since blocking neuronal output by expressing shibire^{ts} leaves activity of targeted neurons intact we tried to deploy a different approach. The optogenetically silencing channel GTACR1 blocks neuronal activity upon green light exposure (206). Unfortunately, exposure to strong green light seemed to have interfering effects on the phenotypes we observed. Therefore, we could not draw conclusions from the results we obtained (data not shown). Thus, until now we cannot exclude the involvement of one of the tested neurons via a shibire- or NO-independent signaling pathway. To investigate whether other signaling pathways are involved, future experiments will utilize the inward-rectifier potassium channel Kir2.1 to silence candidate cells (207, 208). Additionally, other pathways that we have not probed may also be responsible for sugar-mediated memory devaluation. The precise mechanism by which the perception of sugar is translated into a reinforcement signal at the level of the MB is not yet understood. This lack of knowledge makes it challenging to test the involvement of other potential candidates in an informed manner. Moreover, these activity patterns are likely influenced by the animal's internal states, such as hunger. Recent data suggest that hunger-state-dependent hormonal signaling modulates responsivity of DANs (209). Other similar mechanisms might exist that are still unknown. Therefore, such long-range inputs could also play a role in sugar-mediated memory devaluation.

Overall, the circuit mechanisms underlying sugar-mediated memory devaluation remain unclear to date. However, our negative results are themselves a fascinating finding, highlighting the system's complexity and indicating parts of the circuitry that are not yet understood. Nevertheless, the presented paradigm provides a valuable opportunity to further investigate the neuronal circuitry underlying US-mediated memory update.

5.5 Context gates reward memory devaluation

Exposure to the unpaired reward after olfactory conditioning reduces memory retrieval. However, whether devaluation of the learned association occurs depends on the context of reward re-exposure. Presenting flies sugar in vials used for starvation diminishes memory performance. Contrarily, when flies receive the sugar in the tubes usually used in T-maze experiments, the memory is maintained (Figure 8F, Supplemental figure 5A). This context dependency aligns with previous studies that have highlighted the importance of context for memory retrieval (210, 211).

To understand the significance of different contexts for the flies, one must consider the lifetime experiences of the animals. In the lab flies live at their preferred temperature (22-25°C) and

have infinite access to food until they are brought to experimental conditions. Only then, they undergo a procedure of starvation interrupted by training, sugar re-exposure and testing which can be considered major events in the fly's lifespan. Starvation is conducted in plastic vials with an agar pit on the bottom as a water source (starvation vials). The training context is marked by conditions (e.g. tubes and airflow) related to the T-maze. These environments can provide further cues that could be associated with the reward during learning. Therefore, the learning context, besides missing the major odor cue, could provide sufficient information so that the memory is still considered reliable. However, when flies were trained in starvation vials, memory devaluation still occurred in starvation vials, but not in the T-maze (Figure 8K). Thus, it is not the training context *per se* that protects the memory from being devalued. Considering the data, there are two other possible interpretations. Firstly, the T-maze context serves as the testing context in all experiments. By experiencing the sugar without odor memory retrieval could become context dependent. Therefore, behavior would only be shown when re-exposure and testing context are matching. Secondly, memory devaluation could depend on the starvation vials. Flies might be in an aroused state since the starvation context means stress in the form of nutrition deprivation. It has been shown that arousal states can lead to differences in behavioral expression of memories (212, 213). Further, sugar might be less expected in the starvation context where food is normally restricted. In this case it could elicit a larger prediction error, consequently leading to larger necessity for memory update. Moreover, the starvation context could change the motivation to learn about nutrition supply, since food is more valuable in situations where long starvation phases are expected. Testing these hypotheses requires changing either the starvation or testing context. Since establishing these protocols is out of the scope of this study, future work could address these questions.

To gain better control over the system, we explored various features that could define the context. However, none of the tested aspects resulted in a change in context dependency regarding starvation vials or T-maze tubes (Figure 8G-J, Supplemental figure 5B). When we changed the T-maze context by removing the airflow or using completely dark tubes, flies still maintained the memory (Figure 8H &I). Similarly, providing the sugar in unplugged T-maze tubes did not diminish memory retrieval in the test (Figure 8J). We also modified exposure in the agar vials in a way that could eliminate potential differences to the T-maze tubes. Nonetheless, sugar re-exposure in starvation vials lacking the agar pit or those exposed to flies for one day before, to introduce a fly-smell, still resulted in memory devaluation (Figure 8G, Supplemental figure 5B). Hence, at this point we cannot conclusively identify the critical components that flies sense in the different environments. It could be a particular visual cue, the slightly different diameter of the vials, a smell emanating from the different materials, or a combination of these features that is essential for flies to distinguish between the different contexts.

Though open questions remain, the context dependency of reward memory devaluation highlights the importance of the event history of an animal's lifetime in the processing and updating of memories.

5.6 Potential and limits of using the US as a reminder cue to activate memories in the clinics.

In exposure therapy, the associated cue is typically used as a reminder cue to initiate memory update. However, this approach only changes the targeted CS-US memory. Since meaningful events (US) are often associated with multiple cues, other cues can still elicit unwanted behavior. The US is part of all these associations. Therefore, using the US as a reminder cue holds potential to change multiple memories in the same session. In line with previous animal studies, we demonstrate that exposure to the US can trigger memory update in Drosophila. However, the question remains: how feasible is this approach for translation to clinical applications? In the case of fearful memories, it is unrealistic to imagine re-exposure to the US. The meaningful event in this case can be harmful. It is inconceivable to return traumatized veterans to war zones as part of clinical treatment. Nevertheless, substance abuse disorders might allow implementation. In rats, administration of the drug of abuse can destabilize reward memories. Subsequent interference with the restabilization step has been shown to successfully reduce spontaneous recovery, renewal, and reinstatement (58, 214). In some studies, reinforcement involving reminder sessions even seem necessary to induce memory update (59). Therefore, utilizing the US as a reminder cue, might more broadly lead to change of memories of different kind and strength. However, significant risks and ethical concerns cannot be overlooked as administering drugs to patients is potentially harmful and can lead to relapse. This issue might be addressed by using chemically similar substances without addiction potential, such as methadone or methylphenidate (58, 60).

In line with data about CS-mediated memory change, our data show the context dependency of US-mediated memory change (215, 216). Thus, contexts of the reminder session should also be intentionally chosen in clinical settings. Thereby, not only external environments but also internal states of an individual matter and should be considered.

Overall, there seems to be potential for using the US-based approach in clinical treatment. However, further research is needed to apply this technique in a targeted manner. Animal models will be crucial for gaining a deeper understanding of the underlying mechanisms before implementing therapeutic procedures for humans. In this study, we provide a simple behavioral paradigm using the fruit fly as a well-studied model organism. Using this paradigm along with the fly's predominantly stereotypical brain wiring and genetic accessibility, allows for further systematic and mechanistic investigations.

5.7 Outlook

The results from this study show that in flies re-exposure to sugar after appetitive training leads to devaluation of the memory. Similarly, activation of DANs from the PAM cluster leads to diminished memory retrieval in the test. However, our data reveals that those two processes are distinct and involve different neuronal mechanisms.

Studies on aversive memories report permanent or transient forgetting processes in case of unconsolidated or consolidated memories, respectively (20, 132, 155, 197). Thereby, plasticity in downstream MBONs is reversed when the memory is permanently forgotten (19). Contrarily, transient forgetting rather seems to be a retrieval deficit with the plasticity being maintained (20). Appetitive memories in flies get consolidated after one training trial (104). We find that activation of PAM DANs after training leads to reduction of memory retrieval independent of the memory phase (Figure 5C-F). Further, the memory does not recover 24 h after an early reactivation, suggesting that the memory is permanently gone (Figure 5D). It has been shown that sugar learning leads to the depression of odor-evoked Ca²⁺ responses in MBON- β '2mp (121). In our next steps, we will conduct functional imaging experiments to investigate whether this plasticity is reversed following a) activation of dopamine neurons and b) sugar re-exposure. Additionally, it will be interesting to explore if there is a difference in reversal when activation or re-exposure occurs inside versus outside the consolidation window.

To understand the circuit mechanisms underlying sugar-mediated memory devaluation, we tested several neuronal populations impinging on the MB. However, blocking any of these neurons during sugar re-exposure did not impaired memory devaluation (Figure 4). We used the temperature-sensitive dynamin mutant *shi*^{ts} to block output from targeted cells. Though *shi*^{ts} restricts small vesicle release, activity within neurons remains functional. Therefore, in future experiments, we will express the inward-rectifier potassium channel Kir2.1 in a time restricted manner to investigate involvement of *shi*^{ts} independent signaling pathways in targeted neurons.

Sugar re-exposure in the T-maze context leaves the memory unaltered (Figure 8F). However, it is still possible that the memory undergoes reconsolidation without being significantly updated. Without interference or update towards forgetting, a memory undergoing reconsolidation remains retrievable. Therefore, interference with the restabilization step is necessary to observe reconsolidation. Preliminary experiments indicate that exposing flies to sugar in the T-maze context, after training in the same context, leads to memory reconsolidation (data not shown). However, it is unclear whether the sugar, the context, or both serve as the reminder triggering memory destabilization. To clarify this, we will conduct experiments where flies are trained in a different context and then exposed to sugar in the T-

maze context. If reconsolidation occurs under these conditions, it would suggest that sugar reexposure triggers reconsolidation in the T-maze context, with different consequences than outside the T-maze context.

These outlined future experiments will enhance our understanding of the neural mechanisms underlying the devaluation phenomenon presented here. It will be exciting to uncover the consequences of sugar re-exposure-mediated memory devaluation on a circuit level.

6 Literature

1. Pavlov IP. Conditioned reflexes: an investigation of the physiological activity of the cerebral cortex. Oxford, England: Oxford Univ. Press; 1927. xv, 430-xv, p.

2. Lissek S, van Meurs B. Learning models of PTSD: Theoretical accounts and psychobiological evidence. Int J Psychophysiol. 2015;98(3 Pt 2):594-605.

3. Everitt BJ, Dickinson A, Robbins TW. The neuropsychological basis of addictive behaviour. Brain Research Reviews. 2001;36(2):129-38.

4. Steven E. Hyman, M.D. Addiction: A Disease of Learning and Memory. American Journal of Psychiatry. 2005;162(8):1414-22.

5. O'BRIEN CP, CHILDRESS AR, McLELLAN AT, EHRMAN R. Classical Conditioning in Drug-Dependent Humansa. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences. 1992;654(1):400-15.

6. Mackintosh NJ. The psychology of animal learning. Oxford, England: Academic Press; 1974. xiv, 730-xiv, p.

7. Grant S, London ED, Newlin DB, Villemagne VL, Liu X, Contoreggi C, et al. Activation of memory circuits during cue-elicited cocaine craving. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1996;93(21):12040-5.

8. Fuchs RA, Lasseter HC, Ramirez DR, Xie X. Relapse to drug seeking following prolonged abstinence: the role of environmental stimuli. Drug Discov Today Dis Models. 2008;5(4):251-8.

9. Müller GE, Pilzecker A. Experimentelle beiträge zur lehre vom gedächtniss: JA Barth; 1900.

10. Squire LR, Genzel L, Wixted JT, Morris RG. Memory consolidation. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol. 2015;7(8):a021766.

11. Schafe GE, LeDoux JE. Memory consolidation of auditory pavlovian fear conditioning requires protein synthesis and protein kinase A in the amygdala. J Neurosci. 2000;20(18):Rc96.

12. Hernandez PJ, Abel T. The role of protein synthesis in memory consolidation: progress amid decades of debate. Neurobiol Learn Mem. 2008;89(3):293-311.

13. Raven F, Heckman PRA, Havekes R, Meerlo P. Sleep deprivation-induced impairment of memory consolidation is not mediated by glucocorticoid stress hormones. J Sleep Res. 2020;29(5):e12972.

14. Holmes EA, James EL, Kilford EJ, Deeprose C. Key steps in developing a cognitive vaccine against traumatic flashbacks: visuospatial Tetris versus verbal Pub Quiz. PLoS One. 2010;5(11):e13706.

15. Agranoff BW, Davis RE, Brink JJ. Memory fixation in the goldfish. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences. 1965;54(3):788-93.

16. Horsch A, Vial Y, Favrod C, Harari MM, Blackwell SE, Watson P, et al. Reducing intrusive traumatic memories after emergency caesarean section: A proof-of-principle randomized controlled study. Behav Res Ther. 2017;94:36-47.

17. Milton AL. Drug memory reconsolidation: from molecular mechanisms to the clinical context. Translational Psychiatry. 2023;13(1):370.

18. Davis RL, Zhong Y. The Biology of Forgetting—A Perspective. Neuron. 2017;95(3):490-503.

19. Berry JA, Cervantes-Sandoval I, Chakraborty M, Davis RL. Sleep Facilitates Memory by Blocking Dopamine Neuron-Mediated Forgetting. Cell. 2015;161(7):1656-67.

20. Sabandal JM, Berry JA, Davis RL. Dopamine-based mechanism for transient forgetting. Nature. 2021;591(7850):426-30.

21. Schwartz BL, Metcalfe J. Tip-of-the-tongue (TOT) states: retrieval, behavior, and experience. Memory & Cognition. 2011;39(5):737-49.

22. Rosenzweig ES, Barnes CA, McNaughton BL. Making room for new memories. Nature Neuroscience. 2002;5(1):6-8.

23. Storm BC. The Benefit of Forgetting in Thinking and Remembering. Current Directions in Psychological Science. 2011;20(5):291-5.

24. Ryan TJ, Frankland PW. Forgetting as a form of adaptive engram cell plasticity. Nature Reviews Neuroscience. 2022;23(3):173-86.

25. Bouton ME. Context and Behavioral Processes in Extinction. Learning & Memory. 2004;11(5):485-94.

26. Bouton ME. Context, Ambiguity, and Classical Conditioning. Current Directions in Psychological Science. 1994;3(2):49-53.

27. Bubic A, Von Cramon DY, Schubotz R. Prediction, cognition and the brain. Frontiers in Human Neuroscience. 2010;4.

28. Pedreira ME, Pérez-Cuesta LM, Maldonado H. Mismatch Between What Is Expected and What Actually Occurs Triggers Memory Reconsolidation or Extinction. Learning & Memory. 2004;11(5):579-85.

29. Rescorla RA, Heth CD. Reinstatement of fear to an extinguished conditioned stimulus. Journal of Experimental Psychology: Animal Behavior Processes. 1975;1(1):88-96.

30. Bouton ME, Bolles RC. Contextual control of the extinction of conditioned fear. Learning and Motivation. 1979;10(4):445-66.

31. Felsenberg J, Jacob PF, Walker T, Barnstedt O, Edmondson-Stait AJ, Pleijzier MW, et al. Integration of Parallel Opposing Memories Underlies Memory Extinction. Cell. 2018;175(3):709-22.e15.

32. Marks I. Exposure therapy for phobias and obsessive-compulsive disorders. Hosp Pract. 1979;14(2):101-8.

33. Watson JP, Gaind R, Marks IM. Prolonged Exposure: a Rapid Treatment for Phobias. British Medical Journal. 1971;1(5739):13-5.

34. Craske MG, Kircanski K, Zelikowsky M, Mystkowski J, Chowdhury N, Baker A. Optimizing inhibitory learning during exposure therapy. Behaviour Research and Therapy. 2008;46(1):5-27.

35. Di Ciano P, Everitt BJ. Conditioned reinforcing properties of stimuli paired with selfadministered cocaine, heroin or sucrose: implications for the persistence of addictive behaviour. Neuropharmacology. 2004;47:202-13.

36. Tunstall BJ, Kearns DN. Cocaine can generate a stronger conditioned reinforcer than food despite being a weaker primary reinforcer. Addiction Biology. 2016;21(2):282-93.

37. Conklin CA, Tiffany ST. Applying extinction research and theory to cue-exposure addiction treatments. Addiction. 2002;97(2):155-67.

38. Kiyak C, Simonetti ME, Norton S, Deluca P. The efficacy of cue exposure therapy on alcohol use disorders: A quantitative meta-analysis and systematic review. Addictive Behaviors. 2023;139:107578.

39. Mellentin AI, Skøt L, Nielsen B, Schippers GM, Nielsen AS, Stenager E, et al. Cue exposure therapy for the treatment of alcohol use disorders: A meta-analytic review. Clinical Psychology Review. 2017;57:195-207.

40. Nader K, Schafe GE, LeDoux JE. The labile nature of consolidation theory. Nat Rev Neurosci. 2000;1(3):216-9.

41. Lewis DJ. Sources of experimental amnesia. Psychological Review. 1969;76(5):461-72.

42. Lewis DJ. Psychobiology of active and inactive memory. Psychological Bulletin. 1979;86(5):1054-83.

43. Sara SJ. Retrieval and reconsolidation: toward a neurobiology of remembering. Learn Mem. 2000;7(2):73-84.

44. Schiller D, Monfils MH, Raio CM, Johnson DC, Ledoux JE, Phelps EA. Preventing the return of fear in humans using reconsolidation update mechanisms. Nature. 2010;463(7277):49-53.

45. Kindt M, Soeter M, Vervliet B. Beyond extinction: erasing human fear responses and preventing the return of fear. Nature Neuroscience. 2009;12(3):256-8.

46. Nader K. Reconsolidation and the Dynamic Nature of Memory. Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Biology. 2015;7(10).

47. Brunet A, Poundja J, Tremblay J, Bui É, Thomas É, Orr SP, et al. Trauma Reactivation Under the Influence of Propranolol Decreases Posttraumatic Stress Symptoms and Disorder: 3 Open-Label Trials. Journal of Clinical Psychopharmacology. 2011;31(4). 48. Przybyslawski J, Roullet P, Sara SJ. Attenuation of Emotional and Nonemotional Memories after their Reactivation: Role of β Adrenergic Receptors. The Journal of Neuroscience. 1999;19(15):6623-8.

49. James EL, Bonsall MB, Hoppitt L, Tunbridge EM, Geddes JR, Milton AL, et al. Computer Game Play Reduces Intrusive Memories of Experimental Trauma via Reconsolidation-Update Mechanisms. Psychological Science. 2015;26(8):1201-15.

50. Suzuki A, Josselyn SA, Frankland PW, Masushige S, Silva AJ, Kida S. Memory Reconsolidation and Extinction Have Distinct Temporal and Biochemical Signatures. The Journal of Neuroscience. 2004;24(20):4787-95.

51. Kitamura H, Johnston P, Johnson L, Strodl E. Boundary conditions of post-retrieval extinction: A direct comparison of low and high partial reinforcement. Neurobiology of Learning and Memory. 2020;174:107285.

52. Fernández RS, Boccia MM, Pedreira ME. The fate of memory: Reconsolidation and the case of Prediction Error. Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews. 2016;68:423-41.

53. Sevenster D, Beckers T, Kindt M. Prediction Error Governs Pharmacologically Induced Amnesia for Learned Fear. Science. 2013;339(6121):830-3.

54. Merlo E, Milton AL, Goozée ZY, Theobald DE, Everitt BJ. Reconsolidation and Extinction Are Dissociable and Mutually Exclusive Processes: Behavioral and Molecular Evidence. The Journal of Neuroscience. 2014;34(7):2422-31.

55. Oram TB, Card GM. Context-dependent control of behavior in Drosophila. Current Opinion in Neurobiology. 2022;73:102523.

56. Debiec J, Diaz-Mataix L, Bush DE, Doyère V, LeDoux JE. The selectivity of aversive memory reconsolidation and extinction processes depends on the initial encoding of the Pavlovian association. Learn Mem. 2013;20(12):695-9.

57. Liu J, Zhao L, Xue Y, Shi J, Suo L, Luo Y, et al. An Unconditioned Stimulus Retrieval Extinction Procedure to Prevent the Return of Fear Memory. Biological Psychiatry. 2014;76(11):895-901.

58. Luo Y-x, Xue Y-x, Liu J-f, Shi H-s, Jian M, Han Y, et al. A novel UCS memory retrievalextinction procedure to inhibit relapse to drug seeking. Nature Communications. 2015;6(1):7675.

59. Exton-McGuinness MTJ, Patton RC, Sacco LB, Lee JLC. Reconsolidation of a welllearned instrumental memory. Learning & Memory. 2014;21(9):468-77.

60. Yue J-L, Yuan K, Bao Y-P, Meng S-Q, Shi L, Fang Q, et al. The effect of a methadoneinitiated memory reconsolidation updating procedure in opioid use disorder: A translational study. eBioMedicine. 2022;85.

61. Schultz W. Dopamine reward prediction-error signalling: a two-component response. Nat Rev Neurosci. 2016;17(3):183-95.

62. Lutas A, Kucukdereli H, Alturkistani O, Carty C, Sugden AU, Fernando K, et al. Statespecific gating of salient cues by midbrain dopaminergic input to basal amygdala. Nature Neuroscience. 2019;22(11):1820-33.

63. Vander Weele CM, Siciliano CA, Matthews GA, Namburi P, Izadmehr EM, Espinel IC, et al. Dopamine enhances signal-to-noise ratio in cortical-brainstem encoding of aversive stimuli. Nature. 2018;563(7731):397-401.

64. Lammel S, Ion DI, Roeper J, Malenka RC. Projection-specific modulation of dopamine neuron synapses by aversive and rewarding stimuli. Neuron. 2011;70(5):855-62.

65. Lammel S, Lim BK, Ran C, Huang KW, Betley MJ, Tye KM, et al. Input-specific control of reward and aversion in the ventral tegmental area. Nature. 2012;491(7423):212-7.

66. Cai LX, Pizano K, Gundersen GŴ, Hayes CL, Fleming WT, Holt S, et al. Distinct signals in medial and lateral VTA dopamine neurons modulate fear extinction at different times. Elife. 2020;9.

67. Salamone JD, Correa M, Farrar A, Mingote SM. Effort-related functions of nucleus accumbens dopamine and associated forebrain circuits. Psychopharmacology (Berl). 2007;191(3):461-82.

68. Saddoris MP, Cacciapaglia F, Wightman RM, Carelli RM. Differential Dopamine Release Dynamics in the Nucleus Accumbens Core and Shell Reveal Complementary Signals

for Error Prediction and Incentive Motivation. The Journal of Neuroscience. 2015;35(33):11572-82.

69. Castillo Díaz F, Caffino L, Fumagalli F. Bidirectional role of dopamine in learning and memory-active forgetting. Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews. 2021;131:953-63.

70. Bromberg-Martin ES, Matsumoto M, Hikosaka O. Dopamine in motivational control: rewarding, aversive, and alerting. Neuron. 2010;68(5):815-34.

71. de Jong JW, Afjei SA, Pollak Dorocic I, Peck JR, Liu C, Kim CK, et al. A Neural Circuit Mechanism for Encoding Aversive Stimuli in the Mesolimbic Dopamine System. Neuron. 2019;101(1):133-51.e7.

72. Brischoux F, Chakraborty S, Brierley DI, Ungless MA. Phasic excitation of dopamine neurons in ventral VTA by noxious stimuli. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences. 2009;106(12):4894-9.

73. Menegas W, Akiti K, Amo R, Uchida N, Watabe-Uchida M. Dopamine neurons projecting to the posterior striatum reinforce avoidance of threatening stimuli. Nature Neuroscience. 2018;21(10):1421-30.

74. McNamara CG, Tejero-Cantero Á, Trouche S, Campo-Urriza N, Dupret D. Dopaminergic neurons promote hippocampal reactivation and spatial memory persistence. Nature neuroscience. 2014;17(12):1658-60.

75. França AS, Lobão-Soares B, Muratori L, Nascimento G, Winne J, Pereira CM, et al. D2 dopamine receptor regulation of learning, sleep and plasticity. Eur Neuropsychopharmacol. 2015;25(4):493-504.

76. Rossato JI, Bevilaqua LR, Izquierdo I, Medina JH, Cammarota M. Dopamine controls persistence of long-term memory storage. Science. 2009;325(5943):1017-20.

77. Kramar CP, Chefer VI, Wise RA, Medina JH, Barbano MF. Dopamine in the Dorsal Hippocampus Impairs the Late Consolidation of Cocaine-Associated Memory. Neuropsychopharmacology. 2014;39(7):1645-53.

78. Castillo Díaz F, Hernandez MA, Capellá T, Medina JH. Dopamine Neurotransmission in the Ventral Tegmental Area Promotes Active Forgetting of Cocaine-Associated Memory. Molecular Neurobiology. 2019;56(9):6206-17.

79. Bekinschtein P, Weisstaub NV, Gallo F, Renner M, Anderson MC. A retrieval-specific mechanism of adaptive forgetting in the mammalian brain. Nature Communications. 2018;9(1):4660.

80. Gallo FT, Saad MBZ, Silva A, Morici JF, Miranda M, Anderson MC, et al. Dopamine Modulates Adaptive Forgetting in Medial Prefrontal Cortex. The Journal of Neuroscience. 2022;42(34):6620-36.

81. Wu JQ, Peters GJ, Rittner P, Cleland TA, Smith DM. The hippocampus, medial prefrontal cortex, and selective memory retrieval: Evidence from a rodent model of the retrieval-induced forgetting effect. Hippocampus. 2014;24(9):1070-80.

82. Salinas-Hernández XI, Zafiri D, Sigurdsson T, Duvarci S. Functional architecture of dopamine neurons driving fear extinction learning. Neuron. 2023;111(23):3854-70.e5.

83. Herry C, Ciocchi S, Senn V, Demmou L, Müller C, Lüthi A. Switching on and off fear by distinct neuronal circuits. Nature. 2008;454(7204):600-6.

84. Tovote P, Fadok JP, Lüthi A. Neuronal circuits for fear and anxiety. Nature Reviews Neuroscience. 2015;16(6):317-31.

85. Sotres-Bayon F, Quirk GJ. Prefrontal control of fear: more than just extinction. Current Opinion in Neurobiology. 2010;20(2):231-5.

86. Milad MR, Quirk GJ. Neurons in medial prefrontal cortex signal memory for fear extinction. Nature. 2002;420(6911):70-4.

87. Flavell CR, Lee JLC. Dopaminergic D1 receptor signalling is necessary, but not sufficient for cued fear memory destabilisation. Psychopharmacology. 2019;236(12):3667-76. 88. Yan Y, Kong H, Wu EJ, Newman AH, Xu M. Dopamine D3 receptors regulate reconsolidation of cocaine memory. Neuroscience. 2013;241:32-40.

89. Reichelt AC, Exton-McGuinness MT, Lee JLC. Ventral Tegmental Dopamine Dysregulation Prevents Appetitive Memory Destabilization. The Journal of Neuroscience. 2013;33(35):14205-10.

90. Takahashi YK, Roesch MR, Stalnaker TA, Haney RZ, Calu DJ, Taylor AR, et al. The Orbitofrontal Cortex and Ventral Tegmental Area Are Necessary for Learning from Unexpected Outcomes. Neuron. 2009;62(2):269-80.

91. Merlo E, Ratano P, Ilioi EC, Robbins MALS, Everitt BJ, Milton AL. Amygdala Dopamine Receptors Are Required for the Destabilization of a Reconsolidating Appetitive Memory. eneuro. 2015;2(1):ENEURO.0024-14.2015.

92. Rossato JI, Köhler CA, Radiske A, Lima RH, Bevilaqua LRM, Cammarota M. Statedependent effect of dopamine D1/D5 receptors inactivation on memory destabilization and reconsolidation. Behavioural Brain Research. 2015;285:194-9.

93. Rubin GM, Yandell MD, Wortman JR, Gabor GL, Miklos, Nelson CR, et al. Comparative Genomics of the Eukaryotes. Science. 2000;287(5461):2204-15.

94. Chien S. Homophila: human disease gene cognates in Drosophila. Nucleic Acids Research. 2002;30(1):149-51.

95. Adams MD, Celniker SE, Holt RA, Evans CA, Gocayne JD, Amanatides PG, et al. The Genome Sequence of <i>Drosophila melanogaster</i>. Science. 2000;287(5461):2185-95.

96. Brand AH, Perrimon N. Targeted gene expression as a means of altering cell fates and generating dominant phenotypes. Development. 1993;118(2):401-15.

97. Klapoetke NC, Murata Y, Kim SS, Pulver SR, Birdsey-Benson A, Cho YK, et al. Independent optical excitation of distinct neural populations. Nature Methods. 2014;11(3):338-46.

98. Hamada FN, Rosenzweig M, Kang K, Pulver SR, Ghezzi A, Jegla TJ, et al. An internal thermal sensor controlling temperature preference in Drosophila. Nature. 2008;454(7201):217-20.

99. Kitamoto T. Conditional modification of behavior in Drosophila by targeted expression of a temperature-sensitive shibire allele in defined neurons. Journal of Neurobiology. 2001;47(2):81-92.

100. Raji JI, Potter CJ. The number of neurons in Drosophila and mosquito brains. PLoS One. 2021;16(5):e0250381.

101. Scheffer LK, Xu CS, Januszewski M, Lu Z, Takemura S-y, Hayworth KJ, et al. A connectome and analysis of the adult Drosophila central brain. eLife. 2020;9:e57443.

102. Li F, Lindsey JW, Marin EC, Otto N, Dreher M, Dempsey G, et al. The connectome of the adult Drosophila mushroom body provides insights into function. eLife. 2020;9:e62576.

103. Tully T, Quinn WG. Classical conditioning and retention in normal and mutantDrosophila melanogaster. Journal of Comparative Physiology A. 1985;157(2):263-77.

104. Krashes MJ, Waddell S. Rapid Consolidation to a radish and Protein Synthesis-Dependent Long-Term Memory after Single-Session Appetitive Olfactory Conditioning in Drosophila. The Journal of Neuroscience. 2008;28(12):3103-13.

105. Laissue PP, Reiter C, Hiesinger PR, Halter S, Fischbach KF, Stocker RF. Threedimensional reconstruction of the antennal lobe in Drosophila melanogaster. Journal of Comparative Neurology. 1999;405(4):543-52.

106. Jefferis GSXE, Potter CJ, Chan AM, Marin EC, Rohlfing T, Maurer CR, et al. Comprehensive Maps of Drosophila Higher Olfactory Centers: Spatially Segregated Fruit and Pheromone Representation. Cell. 2007;128(6):1187-203.

107. Marin EC, Jefferis GSXE, Komiyama T, Zhu H, Luo L. Representation of the Glomerular Olfactory Map in the Drosophila Brain. Cell. 2002;109(2):243-55.

108. Wong AM, Wang JW, Axel R. Spatial Representation of the Glomerular Map in the Drosophila Protocerebrum. Cell. 2002;109(2):229-41.

109. de Belle JS, Heisenberg M. Associative Odor Learning in <i>Drosophila</i> Abolished by Chemical Ablation of Mushroom Bodies. Science. 1994;263(5147):692-5.

110. Barnstedt O, Owald D, Felsenberg J, Brain R, Moszynski JP, Talbot CB, et al. Memory-Relevant Mushroom Body Output Synapses Are Cholinergic. Neuron. 2016;89(6):1237-47.

111. Honegger KS, Campbell RAA, Turner GC. Cellular-Resolution Population Imaging Reveals Robust Sparse Coding in the Drosophila Mushroom Body. The Journal of Neuroscience. 2011;31(33):11772-85.

112. Vogt K, Aso Y, Hige T, Knapek S, Ichinose T, Friedrich AB, et al. Direct neural pathways convey distinct visual information to Drosophila mushroom bodies. eLife. 2016;5:e14009.

113. Marin EC, Büld L, Theiss M, Sarkissian T, Roberts RJV, Turnbull R, et al. Connectomics Analysis Reveals First-, Second-, and Third-Order Thermosensory and Hygrosensory Neurons in the Adult Drosophila Brain. Current Biology. 2020;30(16):3167-82.e4.

114. Lee T, Lee A, Luo L. Development of the Drosophila mushroom bodies: sequential generation of three distinct types of neurons from a neuroblast. Development. 1999;126(18):4065-76.

115. Crittenden JR, Skoulakis EM, Han KA, Kalderon D, Davis RL. Tripartite mushroom body architecture revealed by antigenic markers. Learn Mem. 1998;5(1-2):38-51.

116. Cervantes-Sandoval I, Martin-Peña A, Berry JA, Davis RL. System-Like Consolidation of Olfactory Memories in Drosophila. The Journal of Neuroscience. 2013;33(23):9846-54.

117. Krashes MJ, Keene AC, Leung B, Armstrong JD, Waddell S. Sequential Use of Mushroom Body Neuron Subsets during Drosophila Odor Memory Processing. Neuron. 2007;53(1):103-15.

118. Ichinose T, Aso Y, Yamagata N, Abe A, Rubin GM, Tanimoto H. Reward signal in a recurrent circuit drives appetitive long-term memory formation. Elife. 2015;4:e10719.

119. Trannoy S, Redt-Clouet C, Dura J-M, Preat T. Parallel Processing of Appetitive Shortand Long-Term Memories In Drosophila. Current Biology. 2011;21(19):1647-53.

120. Perisse E, Owald D, Barnstedt O, Talbot CB, Huetteroth W, Waddell S. Aversive Learning and Appetitive Motivation Toggle Feed-Forward Inhibition in the Drosophila Mushroom Body. Neuron. 2016;90(5):1086-99.

121. Owald D, Felsenberg J, Talbot Clifford B, Das G, Perisse E, Huetteroth W, et al. Activity of Defined Mushroom Body Output Neurons Underlies Learned Olfactory Behavior in Drosophila. Neuron. 2015;86(2):417-27.

122. Aso Y, Sitaraman D, Ichinose T, Kaun KR, Vogt K, Belliart-Guérin G, et al. Mushroom body output neurons encode valence and guide memory-based action selection in Drosophila. eLife. 2014;3:e04580.

123. Aso Y, Hattori D, Yu Y, Johnston RM, Iyer NA, Ngo T-TB, et al. The neuronal architecture of the mushroom body provides a logic for associative learning. eLife. 2014;3:e04577.

124. Burke CJ, Huetteroth W, Owald D, Perisse E, Krashes MJ, Das G, et al. Layered reward signalling through octopamine and dopamine in Drosophila. Nature. 2012;492(7429):433-7.

125. Kim Y-C, Lee H-G, Han K-A. D₁ Dopamine Receptor dDA1 Is Required in the Mushroom Body Neurons for Aversive and Appetitive Learning in Drosophila. The Journal of Neuroscience. 2007;27(29):7640-7.

126. Handler A, Graham TGW, Cohn R, Morantte I, Siliciano AF, Zeng J, et al. Distinct Dopamine Receptor Pathways Underlie the Temporal Sensitivity of Associative Learning. Cell. 2019;178(1):60-75.e19.

127. Berry JA, Phan A, Davis RL. Dopamine Neurons Mediate Learning and Forgetting through Bidirectional Modulation of a Memory Trace. Cell Rep. 2018;25(3):651-62.e5.

128. Pribbenow C, Chen Y-c, Heim MM, Laber D, Reubold S, Reynolds É, et al. Postsynaptic plasticity of cholinergic synapses underlies the induction and expression of appetitive and familiarity memories in Drosophila. eLife. 2022;11:e80445.

129. Schwaerzel M, Heisenberg M, Zars T. Extinction antagonizes olfactory memory at the subcellular level. Neuron. 2002;35(5):951-60.

130. Boto T, Louis T, Jindachomthong K, Jalink K, Tomchik SM. Dopaminergic modulation of cAMP drives nonlinear plasticity across the Drosophila mushroom body lobes. Curr Biol. 2014;24(8):822-31.

131. Felsenberg J, Barnstedt O, Cognigni P, Lin S, Waddell S. Re-evaluation of learned information in Drosophila. Nature. 2017;544(7649):240-4.

132. Berry JA, Cervantes-Sandoval I, Nicholas EP, Davis RL. Dopamine is required for learning and forgetting in Drosophila. Neuron. 2012;74(3):530-42.

133. Schwaerzel M, Monastirioti M, Scholz H, Friggi-Grelin F, Birman S, Heisenberg M. Dopamine and Octopamine Differentiate between Aversive and Appetitive Olfactory Memories in Drosophila. The Journal of Neuroscience. 2003;23(33):10495-502.

134. Claridge-Chang A, Roorda RD, Vrontou E, Sjulson L, Li H, Hirsh J, et al. Writing Memories with Light-Addressable Reinforcement Circuitry. Cell. 2009;139(2):405-15.

135. Liu C, Plaçais P-Y, Yamagata N, Pfeiffer BD, Aso Y, Friedrich AB, et al. A subset of dopamine neurons signals reward for odour memory in Drosophila. Nature. 2012;488(7412):512-6.

136. Gervasi N, Tchénio P, Preat T. PKA dynamics in a Drosophila learning center: coincidence detection by rutabaga adenylyl cyclase and spatial regulation by dunce phosphodiesterase. Neuron. 2010;65(4):516-29.

137. Tomchik SM, Davis RL. Dynamics of learning-related cAMP signaling and stimulus integration in the Drosophila olfactory pathway. Neuron. 2009;64(4):510-21.

138. Yamagata N, Ichinose T, Aso Y, Plaçais P-Y, Friedrich AB, Sima RJ, et al. Distinct dopamine neurons mediate reward signals for short- and long-term memories. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences. 2015;112(2):578-83.

139. Huetteroth W, Perisse E, Lin S, Klappenbach M, Burke C, Waddell S. Sweet taste and nutrient value subdivide rewarding dopaminergic neurons in Drosophila. Curr Biol. 2015;25(6):751-8.

140. Shyu W-H, Chiu T-H, Chiang M-H, Cheng Y-C, Tsai Y-L, Fu T-F, et al. Neural circuits for long-term water-reward memory processing in thirsty Drosophila. Nature Communications. 2017;8(1):15230.

141. McCurdy LY, Sareen P, Davoudian PA, Nitabach MN. Dopaminergic mechanism underlying reward-encoding of punishment omission during reversal learning in Drosophila. Nature Communications. 2021;12(1):1115.

142. Otto N, Pleijzier MW, Morgan IC, Edmondson-Stait AJ, Heinz KJ, Stark I, et al. Input Connectivity Reveals Additional Heterogeneity of Dopaminergic Reinforcement in Drosophila. Current Biology. 2020;30(16):3200-11.e8.

143. Manoim JE, Davidson AM, Weiss S, Hige T, Parnas M. Lateral axonal modulation is required for stimulus-specific olfactory conditioning in Drosophila. Current Biology. 2022;32(20):4438-50.e5.

144. Cervantes-Sandoval I, Phan A, Chakraborty M, Davis RL. Reciprocal synapses between mushroom body and dopamine neurons form a positive feedback loop required for learning. eLife. 2017;6:e23789.

145. Pavlowsky A, Schor J, Plaçais P-Y, Preat T. A GABAergic Feedback Shapes Dopaminergic Input on the Drosophila Mushroom Body to Promote Appetitive Long-Term Memory. Current Biology. 2018;28(11):1783-93.e4.

146. Zhao X, Lenek D, Dag U, Dickson BJ, Keleman K. Persistent activity in a recurrent circuit underlies courtship memory in Drosophila. eLife. 2018;7:e31425.

147. Siju KP, Štih V, Aimon S, Gjorgjieva J, Portugues R, Grunwald Kadow IC. Valence and State-Dependent Population Coding in Dopaminergic Neurons in the Fly Mushroom Body. Current Biology. 2020;30(11):2104-15.e4.

148. Zolin A, Cohn R, Pang R, Siliciano AF, Fairhall AL, Ruta V. Context-dependent representations of movement in Drosophila dopaminergic reinforcement pathways. Nature Neuroscience. 2021;24(11):1555-66.

149. Cohn R, Morantte I, Ruta V. Coordinated and Compartmentalized Neuromodulation Shapes Sensory Processing in Drosophila. Cell. 2015;163(7):1742-55.

150. Plaçais P-Y, Trannoy S, Isabel G, Aso Y, Siwanowicz I, Belliart-Guérin G, et al. Slow oscillations in two pairs of dopaminergic neurons gate long-term memory formation in Drosophila. Nature Neuroscience. 2012;15(4):592-9.

151. Krashes MJ, DasGupta S, Vreede A, White B, Armstrong JD, Waddell S. A neural circuit mechanism integrating motivational state with memory expression in Drosophila. Cell. 2009;139(2):416-27.

152. Yamagata N, Hiroi M, Kondo S, Abe A, Tanimoto H. Suppression of Dopamine Neurons Mediates Reward. PLOS Biology. 2016;14(12):e1002586.

153. Musso P-Y, Tchenio P, Preat T. Delayed Dopamine Signaling of Energy Level Builds Appetitive Long-Term Memory in Drosophila. Cell Reports. 2015;10(7):1023-31.

154. Aso Y, Rubin GM. Dopaminergic neurons write and update memories with cell-type-specific rules. eLife. 2016;5:e16135.

155. Yamazaki D, Maeyama Y, Tabata T. Combinatory Actions of Co-transmitters in Dopaminergic Systems Modulate Drosophila Olfactory Memories. J Neurosci. 2023;43(49):8294-305.

156. Berry JA, Guhle DC, Davis RL. Active forgetting and neuropsychiatric diseases. Molecular Psychiatry. 2024.

157. Karam CS, Jones SK, Javitch JA. Come Fly with Me: An overview of dopamine receptors in Drosophila melanogaster. Basic Clin Pharmacol Toxicol. 2020;126 Suppl 6(Suppl 6):56-65.

158. Himmelreich S, Masuho I, Berry JA, MacMullen C, Skamangas NK, Martemyanov KA, et al. Dopamine Receptor DAMB Signals via Gq to Mediate Forgetting in Drosophila. Cell Reports. 2017;21(8):2074-81.

159. Cervantes-Sandoval I, Davis RL, Berry JA. Rac1 Impairs Forgetting-Induced Cellular Plasticity in Mushroom Body Output Neurons. Frontiers in Cellular Neuroscience. 2020;14.

160. Liu Y, Du S, Lv L, Lei B, Shi W, Tang Y, et al. Hippocampal Activation of Rac1 Regulates the Forgetting of Object Recognition Memory. Current Biology. 2016;26(17):2351-7.

161. Dietz DM, Sun H, Lobo MK, Cahill ME, Chadwick B, Gao V, et al. Rac1 is essential in cocaine-induced structural plasticity of nucleus accumbens neurons. Nature Neuroscience. 2012;15(6):891-6.

162. Hayashi-Takagi A, Yagishita S, Nakamura M, Shirai F, Wu YI, Loshbaugh AL, et al. Labelling and optical erasure of synaptic memory traces in the motor cortex. Nature. 2015;525(7569):333-8.

163. Lei B, Lv L, Hu S, Tang Y, Zhong Y. Social experiences switch states of memory engrams through regulating hippocampal Rac1 activity. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences. 2022;119(15):e2116844119.

164. Paknejad N, Hite RK. Structural basis for the regulation of inositol trisphosphate receptors by Ca2+ and IP3. Nature Structural & Molecular Biology. 2018;25(8):660-8.

165. Mohammad F, Mai Y, Ho J, Zhang X, Ott S, Stewart JC, et al. A dopaminergic memory circuit drives acute valence via multiple neurotransmitters. bioRxiv. 2024:2022.11.23.517775.
166. Aso Y, Ray RP, Long X, Bushey D, Cichewicz K, Ngo T-TB, et al. Nitric oxide acts as

a cotransmitter in a subset of dopaminergic neurons to diversify memory dynamics. eLife. 2019;8:e49257.

167. Yang Q, Zhou J, Wang L, Hu W, Zhong Y, Li Q. Spontaneous recovery of reward memory through active forgetting of extinction memory. Curr Biol. 2023;33(5):838-48.e3.

168. Lagasse F, Devaud J-M, Mery F. A Switch from Cycloheximide-Resistant Consolidated Memory to Cycloheximide-Sensitive Reconsolidation and Extinction in Drosophila. The Journal of Neuroscience. 2009;29(7):2225-30.

169. Sitaraman D, Zars M, LaFerriere H, Chen Y-C, Sable-Smith A, Kitamoto T, et al. Serotonin is necessary for place memory in <i>Drosophila</i>. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences. 2008;105(14):5579-84.

170. Yuan Q, Lin F, Zheng X, Sehgal A. Serotonin Modulates Circadian Entrainment in Drosophila. Neuron. 2005;47(1):115-27.

171. Yuan Q, Joiner WJ, Sehgal A. A Sleep-Promoting Role for the Drosophila Serotonin Receptor 1A. Current Biology. 2006;16(11):1051-62.

172. Johnson O, Becnel J, Nichols CD. Serotonin receptor activity is necessary for olfactory learning and memory in Drosophila melanogaster. Neuroscience. 2011;192:372-81.

173. Scheunemann L, Plaçais P-Y, Dromard Y, Schwärzel M, Preat T. Dunce Phosphodiesterase Acts as a Checkpoint for Drosophila Long-Term Memory in a Pair of Serotonergic Neurons. Neuron. 2018;98(2):350-65.e5.

174. Keene AC, Krashes MJ, Leung B, Bernard JA, Waddell S. Drosophila dorsal paired medial neurons provide a general mechanism for memory consolidation. Curr Biol. 2006;16(15):1524-30.

175. Keene AC, Stratmann M, Keller A, Perrat PN, Vosshall LB, Waddell S. Diverse Odor-Conditioned Memories Require Uniquely Timed Dorsal Paired Medial Neuron Output. Neuron. 2004;44(3):521-33. 176. Lee W-P, Chiang M-H, Chang L-Y, Shyu W-H, Chiu T-H, Fu T-F, et al. Serotonin Signals Modulate Mushroom Body Output Neurons for Sustaining Water-Reward Long-Term Memory in Drosophila. Frontiers in Cell and Developmental Biology. 2021;9.

177. Haynes PR, Christmann BL, Griffith LC. A single pair of neurons links sleep to memory consolidation in Drosophila melanogaster. eLife. 2015;4:e03868.

178. Papadopoulou M, Cassenaer S, Nowotny T, Laurent G. Normalization for Sparse Encoding of Odors by a Wide-Field Interneuron. Science. 2011;332(6030):721-5.

179. Crocker A, Sehgal A. Octopamine regulates sleep in drosophila through protein kinase A-dependent mechanisms. J Neurosci. 2008;28(38):9377-85.

180. Scheiner R, Steinbach A, Claßen G, Strudthoff N, Scholz H. Octopamine indirectly affects proboscis extension response habituation in Drosophila melanogaster by controlling sucrose responsiveness. Journal of Insect Physiology. 2014;69:107-17.

181. Zhang T, Branch A, Shen P. Octopamine-mediated circuit mechanism underlying controlled appetite for palatable food in <i>Drosophila</i>. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences. 2013;110(38):15431-6.

182. LeDue Emily E, Mann K, Koch E, Chu B, Dakin R, Gordon Michael D. Starvation-Induced Depotentiation of Bitter Taste in Drosophila. Current Biology. 2016;26(21):2854-61.

183. Youn H, Kirkhart C, Chia J, Scott K. A subset of octopaminergic neurons that promotes feeding initiation in Drosophila melanogaster. PLoS One. 2018;13(6):e0198362.

184. Babski H, Codianni M, Bhandawat V. Octopaminergic descending neurons in Drosophila: connectivity, tonic activity and relation to locomotion. Heliyon.

185. White MA, Chen DS, Wolfner MF. She's got nerve: roles of octopamine in insect female reproduction. Journal of Neurogenetics. 2021;35(3):132-53.

186. Busch S, Selcho M, Ito K, Tanimoto H. A map of octopaminergic neurons in the Drosophila brain. Journal of Comparative Neurology. 2009;513(6):643-67.

187. Kim Y-C, Lee H-G, Lim J, Han K-A. Appetitive Learning Requires the Alpha1-Like Octopamine Receptor OAMB in the Drosophila Mushroom Body Neurons. The Journal of Neuroscience. 2013;33(4):1672-7.

188. Sabandal JM, Sabandal PR, Kim Y-C, Han K-A. Concerted Actions of Octopamine and Dopamine Receptors Drive Olfactory Learning. The Journal of Neuroscience. 2020;40(21):4240-50.

189. Iliadi KG, Iliadi N, Boulianne GL. Drosophila mutants lacking octopamine exhibit impairment in aversive olfactory associative learning. European Journal of Neuroscience. 2017;46(5):2080-7.

190. Dolan M-J, Frechter S, Bates AS, Dan C, Huoviala P, Roberts RJV, et al. Neurogenetic dissection of the Drosophila lateral horn reveals major outputs, diverse behavioural functions, and interactions with the mushroom body. eLife. 2019;8:e43079.

191. Fişek M, Wilson RI. Stereotyped connectivity and computations in higher-order olfactory neurons. Nature Neuroscience. 2014;17(2):280-8.

192. Campetella F, Huber R, Klappenbach M, Warnecke C, Locatelli F, Felsenberg J, et al. Olfactory learning modulates a neural circuit mediating innate odor-guided behavior in Drosophila. bioRxiv. 2023:2023.09.20.558596.

193. Dolan M-J, Belliart-Guérin G, Bates AS, Frechter S, Lampin-Saint-Amaux A, Aso Y, et al. Communication from Learned to Innate Olfactory Processing Centers Is Required for Memory Retrieval in Drosophila. Neuron. 2018;100(3):651-68.e8.

194. Miyashita T, Murakami K, Kikuchi E, Ofusa K, Mikami K, Endo K, et al. Glia transmit negative valence information during aversive learning in <i>Drosophila</i>. Science. 2023;382(6677):eadf7429.

195. Rolls A, Colas D, Adamantidis A, Carter M, Lanre-Amos T, Heller HC, et al. Optogenetic disruption of sleep continuity impairs memory consolidation. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences. 2011;108(32):13305-10.

196. Flexner L, Flexner J, Roberts R, Haba GDL. Loss of recent memory in mice as related to regional inhibition of cerebral protein synthesis. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences. 1964;52(5):1165-9.

197. Shuai Y, Hirokawa A, Ai Y, Zhang M, Li W, Zhong Y. Dissecting neural pathways for forgetting in <i>Drosophila</i> olfactory aversive memory. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences. 2015;112(48):E6663-E72.

198. Jovanoski KD, Duquenoy L, Mitchell J, Kapoor I, Treiber CD, Croset V, et al. Dopaminergic systems create reward seeking despite adverse consequences. Nature. 2023;623(7986):356-65.

199. Burke CJ, Waddell S. Remembering Nutrient Quality of Sugar in Drosophila. Current Biology. 2011;21(9):746-50.

200. Plaza SM, Clements J, Dolafi T, Umayam L, Neubarth NN, Scheffer LK, et al. neuPrint: An open access tool for EM connectomics. Frontiers in Neuroinformatics. 2022;16.

201. Thoma V, Knapek S, Arai S, Hartl M, Kohsaka H, Sirigrivatanawong P, et al. Functional dissociation in sweet taste receptor neurons between and within taste organs of Drosophila. Nature Communications. 2016;7(1):10678.

202. Nader K, Schafe GE, Le Doux JE. Fear memories require protein synthesis in the amygdala for reconsolidation after retrieval. Nature. 2000;406(6797):722-6.

203. Lin S, Owald D, Chandra V, Talbot C, Huetteroth W, Waddell S. Neural correlates of water reward in thirsty Drosophila. Nat Neurosci. 2014;17(11):1536-42.

204. Shen P, Wan X, Wu F, Shi K, Li J, Gao H, et al. Neural circuit mechanisms linking courtship and reward in Drosophila males. Curr Biol. 2023;33(10):2034-50.e8.

205. Levin LR, Han PL, Hwang PM, Feinstein PG, Davis RL, Reed RR. The Drosophila learning and memory gene rutabaga encodes a Ca2+/Calmodulin-responsive adenylyl cyclase. Cell. 1992;68(3):479-89.

206. Mohammad F, Stewart JC, Ott S, Chlebikova K, Chua JY, Koh T-W, et al. Optogenetic inhibition of behavior with anion channelrhodopsins. Nature Methods. 2017;14(3):271-4.

207. Baines RA, Uhler JP, Thompson A, Sweeney ST, Bate M. Altered Electrical Properties in DrosophilaNeurons Developing without Synaptic Transmission. The Journal of Neuroscience. 2001;21(5):1523-31.

208. Johns DC, Marx R, Mains RE, O'Rourke B, Marbán E. Inducible Genetic Suppression of Neuronal Excitability. The Journal of Neuroscience. 1999;19(5):1691-7.

209. Meschi E, Duquenoy L, Otto N, Dempsey G, Waddell S. Compensatory enhancement of input maintains aversive dopaminergic reinforcement in hungry Drosophila. Neuron. 2024.

210. Jacob PF, Vargas-Gutierrez P, Okray Z, Vietti-Michelina S, Felsenberg J, Waddell S. Prior experience conditionally inhibits the expression of new learning in Drosophila. Current Biology. 2021;31(16):3490-503.e3.

211. Yang W, Zattera Benedetta, Delgado Miguel, Warnecke Carolin, Coban Büsra and Felsenberg, Johannes. Creating true and false memories from forgotten information in Drosophila. [unpublished data].expected 2024.

212. Miracle AD, Brace MF, Huyck KD, Singler SA, Wellman CL. Chronic stress impairs recall of extinction of conditioned fear. Neurobiology of Learning and Memory. 2006;85(3):213-8.

213. Mather M. Emotional Arousal and Memory Binding: An Object-Based Framework. Perspect Psychol Sci. 2007;2(1):33-52.

214. Dunbar AB, Taylor JR. Garcinol Blocks the Reconsolidation of Multiple Cocaine-Paired Cues after a Single Cocaine-Reactivation Session. Neuropsychopharmacology. 2017;42(9):1884-92.

215. Jarome TJ, Ferrara NC, Kwapis JL, Helmstetter FJ. Contextual Information Drives the Reconsolidation-Dependent Updating of Retrieved Fear Memories. Neuropsychopharmacology. 2015;40(13):3044-52.

216. Schroyens N, Beckers T, Kindt M. In Search for Boundary Conditions of Reconsolidation: A Failure of Fear Memory Interference. Frontiers in Behavioral Neuroscience. 2017;11.
7 Supplement



Supplemental figure 1: Sugar memories are long lasting after one training trial. Tests were conducted at 15 min, 3 h, 6 h and 24 h after sugar training (A). Exposing flies to sugar 3 h after, but not 3 h before, sugar training diminishes 6 h memory retrieval (B). Flies expressing UAS-TRPA1 in R58E02- GAL4, R15A04-GAL4 and R48B04-GAL4 labeled neurons show same performance in sugar learning as controls crossed to empty-GAL4 (C). Exposing wt flies to heat 3 h after training does not affect 6 h memory performance (D). Artificial training with R15A04-GAL4 labeled neurons exclusively leads to appetitive LTM expression. At 6 h memory was not expressed in this particular data set. However, pooling 6 h memory performance with datapoints from other data sets shows robust memory expression (last bar "6 h pooled") (E). Contrarily, training with R48B04-GAL4 labeled neurons implements an appetitive STM at different timepoints after artificial training (F). Exposing wt flies to heat for 30 min at 15 min after sugar training does not influence memory retrieval at 1 h (G). Reactivation of subsets of PAM-DANs 3 h after sugar training, 6 h test. Only activation using the broad driver line R58E02-GAL4 leads to reduced memory performance at 6 h (H). For 6 h sugar memory, genetic controls of MB056B-GAL4, MB301B-GAL4 and MB025B-GAL4 show significantly increased or a tendency for increased memory performance (I&J). Reactivation of MB043C-GAL4, but not MB025B-GAL4, labeled neurons 1.5 h after aversive shock training leads to diminished memory retrieval at 3 h (K). The heart icon in the timelines depicts sugar exposure. In all figures, data represent the mean ± s.e.m. Individual n are indicated by circles. Asterisks denote significant differences (P<0.05, t-test or ANOVA). For labeled neurons by the respective driver line, see Supplemental table 1.



x-Gal4 ∩ oCS p shi

x-Gal4 ∩ shi

Supplemental figure 2: Handling flies 3 h after training (flipping into vials and back) does not alter 6 h retrieval of artificial R58E02 memory ($n \ge 10$) (A). Exposure to heat (32°C) after optogenetic training (R58E02-GAL4) does not affect 6 h memory performance ($n \ge 13$) (B). 2 min reactivation of R58E02-GAL4 labeled neurons at 3 h after training leads to reduced memory in an immediate test. Asterisk denotes significant difference (P < 0.05, t-test) ($n \ge 6$) (C). Activation of R58E02-GAL4 labeled DANs 3 h before learning does not affect 6 h retrieval of artificial memory ($n \ge 8$) (D). DANs labeled by some but not all GAL4 driver lines have the capacity to implement a 6 h memory (one sample t-test, asterisks denote significant difference to 0 (P < 0.05)) ($n \ge 8$) (E). Screen of MBON involvement in naïve odor avoidance (F). Flies expressing *shi*^{ts} in MBONs and genetic controls were given the choice between air and 3-octanol at a restrictive temperature of 32°C. VT1211-GAl4 labeled neurons are known to be involved in odor avoidance (121) and were used as a positive control. Data for this group and the Canton S (CS) control were pooled over several experiments (F). Asterisks denote significant differences (P < 0.05, t-test (left graph) or ANOVA (right graph)) ($n \ge 6$). In all figures, data represent the mean ± s.e.m. Individual n are indicated by circles. For labeled neurons by the respective driver line see Supplemental table 1.



<u>Supplemental figure 3:</u> Thermogenetic activation of R15A04-GAL4 labeled neurons (LTM DANs) 3 h after optogenetic training with R58E02-lexA labeled neurons leaves 6 h memory unchanged ($n \ge 8$) (t-test).



Supplemental figure 4: When blocking output from R58E02-GAL4 labeled neurons (using *shibire^{ts}*) during sugar and for 30 min after re-exposure, sugar-mediated memory devaluation still occurs ($n \ge 8$) (A). Blocking PAM DANs labeled by 0273-GAL4 leaves sugar-mediated devaluation intact ($n \ge 8$) (B). Blocking α 1 PAM DANs labeled by MB043C-GAL4 does not impair sugar-mediated memory devaluation ($n \ge 8$) (C). 6 h memory control for genotypes *R58E02-GAL4* \cap *UAS-shi^{ts}* or *empty-GAL4* \cap *UAS-shi^{ts}* reveal no difference ($n \ge 10$) (D). Feeding flies L-NNA-containing food for 24 h before starvation leads to enhanced memory performance in a 6 h test but does not impair memory devaluation ($n \ge 8$) (E). Feeding flies L-NNA 3 h before training in a saturated solution on filter paper enhances 6 h memory ($n \ge 10$) (F). The heart icon in the timelines depicts sugar exposure. In all figures, data represent the mean ± s.e.m. Individual n are indicated by circles. Asterisks denote significant differences (P < 0.05, t-test or ANOVA)



Supplemental figure 5: Re-exposing flies to sugar in the T-maze at 3 h after training leaves 24 h memory intact ($n \ge 12$) (A). Exposing flies to sugar in starvation vials that had been exposed to flies before does not impair sugarmediated memory devaluation ($n \ge 15$) (B). Reactivation of PAM DANs diminishes 6 h artificial memory independently of presenting a novel odor (EB) during reactivating ($n \ge 10$) (C). The heart symbol in the timelines depicts sugar exposure. In all figures, data represent the mean ± s.e.m. Individual n are indicated by circles. Asterisks denote significant differences (P < 0.05, t-test or ANOVA)



Supplemental figure 5: Expression patterns of selected GAL4 and lexA driver lines.

Drivers	Labelled neurons
R58E02	90 PAM DANs
0273	120 (all) PAM DANs
MB504B	PPL1-γ1pedc, PPL1-α'2α2, PPL1-γ2α'1, PPL1- α3
0279	ΡΑΜ-β1, ΡΑΜ-β2
R56H09	PAM-β′2m and PAM- γ5n
MB299B	ΡΑΜ-α1
R87D06	PAM-α1 and PAM-β1
MB043C	ΡΑΜ-α1
MB194B	PAM-β1ped
MB025B	PAM-β'1m, PAM-β'1 ap
MB310B	ΡΑΜ-β2β′2a
MB032B	PAM-β′2m
MB056B	ΡΑΜ-β'2p
MB441B	ΡΑΜ-γ3
MB312C	ΡΑΜ-γ4, ΡΑΜ-γ4<γ1γ2
MB315C	ΡΑΜ-γ5
MB194B	PAM-ß1ped
NP5272	ΡΑΜ-β2β'2a
MB058B	PPL1-α'2α2
MB296B	ΡΡL1-γ2α'1
MB099C	PPL1-α'2α2, PPL1-γ2α'1
MB630B	PPL1-α3
MB438B	PPL1-γ1pedc
VT1211	MBON-γ5β'2a, MBON-β'2mp, MBON-β2β'2a
MB298B	ΜΒΟΝ-γ4>γ1γ2
MB310C	MBON-α1
Mb083C	ΜΒΟΝ-γ3, ΜΒΟΝ-γ3β'1
MB210B	MBON-γ5β'2a, MBON-β'2mp
MB082C	MBON-α3, MBON-α'2
MB093C	MBON-α3, MBON-α'2
MB057B	MBON-β'1
MB433B	MBON-β1>α
MB077B	MBON-γ2α'1
MB112C	MBON-γpedc>α/β
SS67741	ΜΒΟΝ-γ1γ2
SS95105	MBON-β'2d
SS81557	MBON-α'3
SS77450	MBON-y4y5

<u>Supplemental table 1:</u> List of driver lines indicating the labeled DANs or MBONs.